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1. INTRODUCTION 

 
“Muganbank” Open Joint Stock Company (the“Bank”) is a joint stock bank, which was incorporated 
in the Republic of Azerbaijan in 1992 as a closed joint stock company and later in 2005 it was 
registered as an open joint stock company. The Bank is regulated by the Central Bank of the 
Republic of Azerbaijan (the “CBRA”) and conducts its business under the general license for 
banking activities and foreign currency operations No: 29 issued on November 25, 1992 and renewed 
on November 10, 2000. The Bank had 44 branches and 8 divisions within the Republic of Azerbaijan 
as at December 31, 2015 (2014: 44 branches and 6 divisions). The Bank’s primary business consists 
of making payments and money transfers, commercial activities, trading with foreign currencies and 
originating loans and deposits and also guarantees. 
 
Registered address and place of business: 
 
The address of its registered office is 21 B, A. Rajabli Street, Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan. 
 
Shareholders of the Bank 
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the following individuals owned issued shares of the Bank: 
 
Shareholder December 31, 

2015, % 
 December 31, 

2014, % 
    
Elmir Mehdiyev  63.50  63.50 
Maqbet Mehdiyev  13.10  13.10 
Vafa Valiyeva  12.05  12.05 
Farida Mehdiyeva  11.35  11.35 
    

Total 100.00  100.00 
 
 
Operating Environment of the Bank 
 
The Republic of Azerbaijan displays certain characteristics of an emerging market, including the 
existence of a currency that is not freely convertible in most countries outside of the Republic of 
Azerbaijan, restrictive currency controls, relatively high inflation and economic growth. The 
financial sector in the Republic of Azerbaijan is sensitive to adverse fluctuations in confidence and 
economic conditions. The Azerbaijani economy occasionally experiences falls in confidence in the 
financial sector accompanied by reductions in liquidity. Management is unable to predict economic 
trends and developments in the banking sector and what effect, if any, a deterioration in the liquidity 
of or confidence in the financial system could have on the financial position of the Bank.  
 
Considering significant drop in crude oil prices starting from the second half of 2014, there continues 
to be uncertainty regarding the economic growth, access to capital and cost of capital in the Republic 
of Azerbaijan. 
 
In addition, CBAR devalued the Azerbaijani Manat by approximately 34% on February 21, 2015 and 
further on December 21, 2015 introduced a floating exchange rate that resulted in one-time 
devaluation of the AZN against US dollar and other major currencies by approximately 48%. 
 
As the Banks issued certain part of the loans to customer in foreign currencies, AZN depreciation 
against these currencies significantly affected the borrowers’ ability to service these loans. 
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These events have also resulted in tightened liquidity in the banking sector combined with deposit 
outflow and financial difficulties of a number of banks that have been placed under Central Bank 
administration as a result. According to the existing rules and legislation, the banks are obliged to 
repay deposits of individuals and legal entities on demand of a depositor. However, management of 
the Bank expects that many customers will not request repayment before contractual maturity. 
Management believes that the Bank’s strong reputation and financial position will be a key factor 
that will enable the bank to retain customer funds and manage its liquidity position. The Bank 
continuously monitors its forecast of inflows and outflows in foreign currencies. Management 
believes it is taking all the necessary measures to support the sustainability and liquidity position of 
the Bank in the current circumstances, however, any further deterioration in the liquidity of the 
financial markets, the increased outflow of funds from the banking system and volatility in the 
currency market may affect the Bank’s liquidity position in a manner not currently determinable. 
 
The tax, currency and customs legislation within the Republic of Azerbaijan is subject to varying 
interpretations, and changes, which can occur frequently. Furthermore, the need for further 
developments in the bankruptcy laws, the absence of formalized procedures for the registration and 
enforcement of collateral, and other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the difficulties 
experienced by banks currently operating in the Republic of Azerbaijan. The future economic 
direction of the Republic of Azerbaijan is largely dependent upon the effectiveness of economic, 
financial and monetary measures undertaken by the government, together with tax, legal, regulatory, 
and political developments. 
 
On February 3, 2016 the President of the Republic of Azerbaijan signed a decree on the 
establishment of a public legal entity of the Financial Markets Supervisory Authority in the Republic 
of Azerbaijan and certain functions of the Central Bank were transferred to this entity. The 
establishment of a public legal entity of the Financial Markets Supervisory Authority aims to license, 
regulate and control the securities market, investment funds, insurance companies, credit 
organizations (banks, non-banking credit organizations and operator of postal communication) and 
payment systems, as well as improve control system over the money laundering prevention activities. 
 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Statement of compliance 
 
These financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) and Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (“IFRIC”).  
 
Going concern 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Bank is a going concern 
and will continue in operation for the foreseeable future.  
 
Other basis of presentation criteria 
 
These financial statements are presented in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats (“AZN”), unless 
otherwise indicated. These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention, except measurement at a fair value of certain financial instruments and measurement of 
buildings at revalued amounts according to IFRS.  
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The Bank maintains its accounting records in accordance with the laws of the Republic of 
Azerbaijan. These financial statements have been prepared from the statutory accounting records and 
have been adjusted to conform to IFRS. These adjustments include certain reclassifications to reflect 
the economic substance of underlying transactions including reclassifications of certain assets and 
liabilities, income and expenses to appropriate financial statement captions. 
 
The principal accounting policies are set out below: 
 
Recognition of interest income and expense 
 
Interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a 
financial liability (or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest 
income or interest expense over the relevant period.  
 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial 
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
financial liability.  
 
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down (partly written 
down) as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is thereafter recognized using the rate of 
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. 
 
Interest earned on assets at fair value is classified within interest income. 
 
Recognition of fee and commission income and expense 
 
Loan origination fees are deferred, together with the related direct costs, and recognized as an 
adjustment to the effective interest rate of the loan. Where it is probable that a loan commitment will 
lead to a specific lending arrangement, the loan commitment fees are deferred, together with the  
related direct costs, and recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate of the resulting 
loan. Where it is unlikely that a loan commitment will lead to a specific lending arrangement, the 
loan commitment fees are recognized in profit and loss accounts over the remaining period of the 
loan commitment. Where a loan commitment expires without resulting in a loan, the loan 
commitment fee is recognized in the profit and loss accounts on expiry. Loan servicing fees are 
recognized as revenue as the services are provided. All other commissions are recognized when 
services are provided. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
The Bank recognizes financial assets and liabilities in its statement of financial position when it 
becomes a party to the contractual obligations of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of 
financial assets and liabilities are recognized using settlement date accounting.  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit and loss accounts. 
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Financial assets 
 
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets “at fair value 
through profit or loss” (FVTPL), “held-to-maturity” investments, “loans and receivables” and 
“available-for-sale” (AFS) financial assets. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of 
the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
 
Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category “financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss”. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for 
the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they 
are designated and effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on financial assets held for trading 
are recognized in the profit and loss accounts. 
 
Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity dates that the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold to 
maturity.  
 
Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less 
any impairment. 

 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or 
short-term resale and are not classified as trading securities or designated as investment securities 
available-for-sale. Such assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Gains and losses are recognized in profit and loss accounts when the loans and receivables are 
derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as 
available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the three preceding categories. After initial 
recognition available-for sale financial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses being 
recognized in other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognized or until the 
investment is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
reported in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit and loss accounts. However, interest 
calculated using the effective interest method is recognized in profit and loss accounts.  
 
Fair value measurement 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its 
absence, the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a 
liability reflects its non-performance risk.  
 
When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active 
market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  
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If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that 
maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The 
chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into 
account in pricing a transaction. 
 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is signifıcant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 
 
• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable; 
• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is signifıcant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable. 
 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Bank 
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents  
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, unrestricted balances on correspondent and time 
deposit accounts with the CBRA and advances to banks in countries included in the Organization for 
Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) with original maturities up to 90 days. For 
purposes of determining cash flows, restricted cash and the minimum reserve deposits required by 
the CBRA, commemorative coins and pledged accounts in OECD countries are not included as a 
cash equivalent due to restrictions on its availability. 
 
Minimum reserve deposits with the Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan 
 
Minimum reserve deposits with the Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan represent the amount 
of obligatory reserves deposited with the Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan in accordance 
with requirements established by the Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan, which subject to 
restrictions on their availability. In view of the above the amount of the minimum reserve deposit 
required by the Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan is not included as a cash equivalent in 
statement of cash flows. 
 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 
 
In the normal course of business, the Bank maintains advances or deposits for various periods of time 
with other banks. Due from banks and other financial institutions are initially recognized at a fair 
value. Due from banks and other financial institutions with a fixed maturity term are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method and are carried net of any allowance 
for impairment losses. Those that do not have fixed maturities are carried at amortized cost based on 
expected maturities. Amounts due from banks and other financial institutions are carried net of any 
allowance for impairment losses. 
 
Loans to customers 
 
Loans granted by the Bank are initially recognized at a fair value plus related transaction costs.  
Where the fair value of consideration given does not equal the fair value of the loan, for example 
where the loan is issued at lower than market rates, the difference between the fair value of 

13 



“MUGANBANK” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY  
  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 (Continued) 
(In thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 
 

 

 
consideration given and the fair value of the loan is recognized as a loss on initial recognition of the 
loan and included in the statement of comprehensive income according to nature of these losses. 
Subsequently, loans are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Loans to 
customers are carried net of any allowance for impairment losses. 
 
Reclassification of financial assets 
 
If a non-derivative financial asset classified as held for trading is no longer held for the purpose of 
selling in the near term, it may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss category in 
one of the following cases: 
 
• A financial asset that would have met the definition of loans and receivables above may be 

reclassified to loans and receivables category if the Bank has the intention and ability to hold it 
for the foreseeable future or until maturity; 

• Other financial assets may be reclassified to available-for-sale or held-to-maturity categories 
only in rare circumstances. 

 
A financial asset classified as available-for-sale that would have met the definition of loans and 
receivables may be reclassified to loans and receivables category of the Bank has the intention and 
ability to hold it for the foreseeable future or until maturity. 

 
Financial assets are reclassified at their fair value on the date of reclassification. Any gain or loss 
already recognized in profit and loss accounts is not reversed. The fair value of the financial asset on 
the date of reclassification becomes its new cost or amortized cost, as applicable. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and 
that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or 
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include 
indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, 
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults. 
 
Determination of fair value 
 
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active market at the reporting date is based on their 
quoted market price or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short 
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. 
 
For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using 
appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include net present value techniques, 
comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, options pricing models 
and other relevant valuation models. 
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Assets carried at amortized cost 
 
The Bank accounts for impairment losses of financial assets when there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Impairment losses are measured as the 
difference between carrying amounts and the present value of expected future cash flows, including 
amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. 
 
Such impairment losses are not reversed, unless if in a subsequent period the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognized, such as recoveries, in which case the previously recognized impairment 
loss is reversed by adjustment of an allowance account. 
 
For financial assets carried at cost, impairment losses are measured as the difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses 
are not reversed. 
 
Available-for-sale financial investments  
 
For available-for-sale financial investments, the Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired. 
 
In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. Where there is 
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition 
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in 
profit and loss accounts – is reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit and loss acounts. 
Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through profit and loss acounts; increases 
in their fair value after impairment are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 
In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on the 
same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost. Future interest income is based on the 
reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash 
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded in profit and 
loss accounts. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase 
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit 
and loss accounts, the impairment loss is reversed through profit and loss accounts. 
 
Renegotiated loans 
 
Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This 
may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions.  
 
Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due. Management 
continuously reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments 
are likely to occur. The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment 
assessment, calculated using the loan’s original or current effective interest rate. 
 
Write-off of loans and advances 
 
Loans and advances are written-off against the allowance for impairment losses when deemed 
uncollectible. Loans and advances are written-off after management has exercised all possibilities 
available to collect amounts due to the Bank and after the Bank has sold all available collateral.
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Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-off are reflected as an offset to the charge for 
impairment of financial assets in profit or loss in the period of recovery. In accordance with the 
statutory legislation, loans may only be written off with the approval of the Supervisory Board and, 
in certain cases, with the respective decision of the Court. 

 
Derecognition of financial assets 
 
The Bank derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Bank recognizes its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Bank 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Bank 
continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the 
proceeds received. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that 
had been recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognized in 
profit and loss accounts.  
 
On derecogntion of a financial asset other than in its entirety (for example, when the Bank retains an 
option to repurchase part of the transferred asset or retains a residual interest that does not result in 
the retention of substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Bank retains control), the 
Bank allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to 
recognize under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognizes on the basis of the 
relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying 
amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognized and the sum of the consideration received 
for the part no longer recognized and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been 
recognized in other comprehensive income is recognized in profit and loss accounts. A cumulative 
gain or loss that had been recognized in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part 
that continues to be recognized and the part that is no longer recognized on the basis of the relative 
fair values of those parts. 
 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
 
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument. 
 
Equity instruments 
 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Bank are recognized at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities “at FVTPL” or “other financial 
liabilities”. 
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FVTPL 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or it 
is designated as at FVTPL. 

 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on 
remeasurement recognized in profit and loss accounts. The net gain or loss recognized in profit and 
loss accounts incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the “other 
income/(loss)” line item in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Other financial liabilities 
 
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.  
 
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis.  
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and 
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, 
or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
 
Due to banks, government and other financial institutions 
 
Amounts due to banks, government and other financial institutions are recorded when money or 
other assets are advanced to the Bank by counterparty banks. The non-derivative liability is carried at 
amortized cost. If the Bank purchases its own debt, it is removed from the statement of financial 
position and the difference between the carrying amount of the liability and the consideration paid is 
included in gains or losses arising from early retirement of debt. 
 
Customer accounts 
 
Customer accounts are non-derivative liabilities to individuals, state or corporate customers and are 
carried at amortized cost. 
 
Debt securities issued 
 
Debt securities in issue include promissory notes, bonds, certificates of deposit and debentures issued 
by the Bank. Debt securities are stated at amortized cost. If the Bank purchases its own debt 
securities in issue, they are removed from the statement of financial position and the difference 
between the carrying amount of the liability and the consideration paid is included in gains arising 
from retirement of debt. 

 
Financial guarantee contracts  
 
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due 
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.  
 
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Bank are initially measured at their fair values and, if not 
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:  
 
• The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and 
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• The amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative amortization recognized in 

accordance with the revenue recognition policies. 
  

Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Bank derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit and loss 
accounts. 
 
Offset of financial assets and liabilities  
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net on the statement of financial position when 
the Bank has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the Bank intends either 
to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. In accounting for 
a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for derecognition, the Bank does not offset the 
transferred asset and the associated liability. 
 
Leases 
 
Financial leases are leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership 
of an asset. Title may or may not eventually be transferred. Whether a lease is a finance lease or an 
operating lease depends on the substance of the transaction rather than the form of the contract. The 
lease is classified as finance lease if: 
 
• The lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term; 
• The lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the asset even if title is not 

transferred; 
• At the inception of the lease the present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to at 

least substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset; and 
• The leased assets are of a specialized nature such that only the lessee can use them without 

major modifications being made. 
 

The Bank as lessee 
 
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognized as assets of the Bank at their fair value at the 
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance 
lease obligation.  

 
Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as 
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are 
recognized immediately in profit and loss accounts unless they are directly attributable to qualifying 
assets, in which case they are capitalized in accordance with the Bank’s general policy on borrowing 
costs. Contingent rentals are recognized as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 
 
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are 
recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
 

18 



“MUGANBANK” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY  
  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 (Continued) 
(In thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 
recognized as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental 
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the 
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

 
Property, equipment and intangible assets 
 
Property, equipment and intangible assets, except buildings, are carried at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and amortization and any recognized impairment loss.  
 
Depreciation on assets under construction and those not placed in service commences from the date 
the assets are ready for their intended use. 
 
Depreciation and amortization are charged on the carrying value of property, equipment and 
intangible assets and is designed to write-off assets over their useful economic lives. The estimated 
useful lives, residual values and depreciation/amortization method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis at 
the following useful lives: 

 
Buildings 50 years (2014: 17 years) 
Furniture and fixtures 8 years 
Computer and equipments 6 years 
Vehicles 10 years 
Other fixed assets 5 years 
Intangible assets 10 years 

 
In previous years the Bank has been using the depreciation rates formed in accordance with the mid-
term plans and initial estimations of the useful lives. However, during 2015 the Bank’s management 
realized that depreciation rate for buildings differ from practical use of the assets as well as asset 
consumption rates used by similar size commercial banks operating in the Republic of Azerbaijan. 
Considering this situation the management of the Bank has adopted new depreciation rate for 
buildings upon investigating set of adequate information. Application of new depreciation rates has 
been effective prospectively starting from January 1, 2015. 
 
Expenses related to repairs and renewals are charged when incurred and included in operating 
expenses unless they qualify for capitalization. 
 
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the related leased asset. Expenses related to 
repairs and renewals are charged when incurred and included in operating expenses unless they 
qualify for capitalization. 

 
Buildings are stated in the statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair 
value at the date of revaluation, determined from market-based evidence by appraisal undertaken by 
professional independent appraisers, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not 
differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the reporting date. 
 
The date of the latest appraisal was December 31, 2014. The next revaluation is scheduled as at 
December 31, 2016.  
 
Market value of property is assessed using the market approach method which involves analysis of 
market sales prices for similar real estate property which was also equal to the fair value of building 
under IFRS 13. 
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Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such buildings is credited to the property 
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset 
previously recognized as an expense, in which case the increase is credited to the statement of 
comprehensive income to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying 
amount arising on the revaluation of such buildings is charged as an expense to the extent that it 
exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous 
revaluation of that asset. 

 
Depreciation on revalued buildings is charged to profit and loss acounts. On the subsequent sale or 
retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the properties 
revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. 
 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as 
owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease. 
 
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are 
acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its property, 
equipment and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Bank estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit and loss accounts, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the 
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit and loss accounts, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation increase. 
 
An item of property, equipment and intangible assets is derecognized upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss 
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit 
and loss accounts. 

 
Assets classified as held for sale 
 
The Bank classifies a non-current asset as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the
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non-current asset must be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms 
that are usual and customary for sales of such assets and its sale must be highly probable. 
 
The sale qualifies as highly probable if the Bank’s management is committed to a plan to sell the 
non-current asset and an active program to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been 
initiated. Further, the non-current asset must have been actively marketed for a sale at price that is 
reasonable in relation to its current fair value and in addition the sale should be expected to qualify 
for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification of the non-current 
asset as held for sale. 
 
The Bank measures an asset classified as held for sale at the lower of its carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell. The Bank recognizes an impairment loss for any initial or subsequent write-
down of the asset to fair value less costs to sell if events or changes in circumstance indicate that 
their carrying amount may be impaired. Any subsequent increase in an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell is recognized to the extent of the cumulative impairment loss that was previously recognized in 
relation to that specific asset. 
 
Taxation 
 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax expense. 
 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit 
as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Bank’s current tax expense is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in 
the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not recognized if the 
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the 
accounting profit. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part 
of the asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset is realized. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of comprehensive 
income, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.  
 
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liability are offset and reported net on the 
statement of financial position if: 

 
• The Bank has a legally enforceable right to set off current income tax assets against current 

income tax liabilities; and 
• Deferred income tax assets and the deferred income tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied 

by the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity. 
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The Republic of Azerbaijan also has various other taxes, which are assessed on the Bank’s activities. 
These taxes are included as a component of operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. 
 
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of 
the time value of money is material). 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement 
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
 
Retirement and other benefit obligations 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan state pension 
system provides for the calculation of current payments by the employer as a percentage of current 
total payments to staff. This expense is charged in the period the related salaries are earned. Upon 
retirement all retirement benefit payments are made by pension funds selected by employees. The 
Bank does not have any pension arrangements separate from the state pension system of the Republic 
of Azerbaijan. In addition, the Bank has no post-retirement benefits or other significant compensated 
benefits requiring accrual. 
 
Contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the statement of financial position but are disclosed 
unless the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in 
the statement of financial position but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
Share capital 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. Dividends on 
ordinary shares are recognized in equity as a reduction in the period in which they are declared. 

 
Dividends that are declared after the reporting date are treated as a subsequent event under 
International Accounting Standard 10 “Events after the Reporting Date” (“IAS 10”) and disclosed 
accordingly. 

 
Foreign currency translation 
 
The functional currency of the Bank is the currency of the primary economic environment, in which 
it operates. The Bank’s functional currency is AZN. 
 
On February 21, 2015 the Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan (“CBAR”) devalued the 
Azerbaijani Manat (AZN). As a result, the official exchange rates of AZN to the U.S. dollar fell to 
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AZN 1.05 per U.S. dollar, and the official exchange rate of AZN to the Euro fell to AZN 1.19 per 
Euro, i.e. by approximately 34% from the exchange rates at the effective date of devaluation.  
 
On December 21, 2015 the CBAR introduced a floating exchange rate that resulted in one-time 
devaluation of the AZN against U.S dollar and other major currencies by approximately 48%. 
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into AZN at the 
appropriate spot rates of exchange of the CBRA ruling at the end of reporting date. Foreign currency 
transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Profits 
and losses arising from these translations are included in net (loss)/gain on foreign exchange 
operations. 

 
Rates of exchange 
 
The exchange rates at reporting date used by the Bank in the preparation of the financial statements 
are as follows: 
 
 

 December 31, 
2015 

 December 31, 
2014 

    
USD/AZN 1.5594  0.7844 
EUR/AZN 1.7046  0.9522 

 
 

Operating Segments 
 
Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Bank that 
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the 
segment and to assess its performance. The Bank’s segmental reporting is based on the following 
operating segments: Retail banking (Principally handling individual customers’ deposits, and 
providing consumer loans, overdrafts, credit cards facilities and funds transfer facilities) and 
Corporate banking (Principally handling loans and other credit facilities and deposit and current 
accounts for corporate and institutional customers). 
 
The Bank measures information about reportable segments in accordance with IFRS. Information 
about reportable operating segment meets any one of the following quantitative thresholds: 
 
• Its reported revenue, from both external customers and intersegment sales or transfers, is 10 per 

cent or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of all operating segments; or  
• The absolute measure of its reported profit or loss is 10 per cent or more of the greater, in 

absolute amount, of (i) the combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not 
report a loss and (ii) the combined reported loss of all operating segments that reported a loss; 
or  

• Its assets are 10 per cent or more of the combined assets of all operating segments.  
 
If the total external revenue reported by operating segments constitutes less than 75 per cent of the 
entity’s revenue, additional operating segments are identified as reportable segments (even if they do 
not meet the quantitative thresholds set out above) until at least 75 per cent of the Bank's revenue is 
included in reportable segments. 
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Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The preparation of the Bank’s financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the reporting date and the 
reported amount of income and expenses during the period ended. Management evaluates its 
estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis. Management bases its estimates and judgments on 
historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or 
conditions. The following estimates and judgments are considered important to the portrayal of the 
Bank’s financial condition. 

 
Allowance for impairment of loans  
 
The Bank regularly reviews its loans to assess for impairment. The Bank’s loan impairment 
provisions are established to recognize incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of loans and 
receivables. The Bank considers accounting estimates related to allowance for impairment of loans 
and receivables a key source of estimation uncertainty because (i) they are highly susceptible to 
change from period to period as the assumptions about future default rates and valuation of potential 
losses relating to impaired loans and receivables are based on recent performance experience, and (ii) 
any significant difference between the Bank’s estimated losses and actual losses would require the 
Bank to record provisions which could have a material impact on its financial statements in future 
periods.  
 
The Bank uses management’s judgment to estimate the amount of any impairment loss in cases 
where a borrower has financial difficulties and there are few available sources of historical data 
relating to similar borrowers. Similarly, the Bank estimates changes in future cash flows based on 
past performance, past customer behavior, observable data indicating an adverse change in the 
payment status of borrowers in a group, and national or local economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for 
assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the 
group of loans. The Bank uses management’s judgment to adjust observable data for a group of loans 
to reflect current circumstances not reflected in historical data. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015 the Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan has 
devalued the Azerbaijani Manat (AZN) against U.S dollar and other major currencies aggregately by 
98%. As a certain part of the loans to customers was issued in foreign currencies, AZN depreciation 
against these currencies caused to additional financial load over the borrowers. The management was 
not able to reliably estimate the effects of this significant event on borrowers’ ability to service these 
loans due to uncertainties regarding the future developments. The Bank is not in a position to predict 
what changes in conditions will take place in the country and what effect such changes might have 
on the adequacy of the allowances for impairment of financial assets in future periods. 
 
The carrying amount of the allowance for impairment of interest bearing assets was AZN 20,015 
thousand and AZN 16,295 thousand as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
Valuation of Financial Instruments 
 
Financial instruments that are classified at a fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale, and 
all derivatives, are stated at a fair value. The fair value of such financial instruments is the estimated 
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, 
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. If a quoted market price is available for an instrument, the 
fair value is calculated based on the market price. When valuation parameters are not observable in 
the market or cannot be derived from observable market prices, the fair value is derived through 
analysis of other observable market data appropriate for each product and pricing models which use a 
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mathematical methodology based on accepted financial theories. Pricing models take into account 
the contract terms of the securities as well as market-based valuation parameters, such as interest 
rates, volatility, exchange rates and the credit rating of the counterparty. 

 
Where market-based valuation parameters are not directly observable, management will make a 
judgment as to its best estimate of that parameter in order to determine a reasonable reflection of how 
the market would be expected to price the instrument. In exercising this judgment, a variety of tools 
are used including proxy observable data, historical data, and extrapolation techniques. The best 
evidence of fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price unless the 
instrument is evidenced by comparison with data from observable markets. Any difference between 
the transaction price and the value based on a valuation technique is not recognized in the statement 
of comprehensive income on initial recognition. Subsequent gains or losses are only recognized to 
the extent that it arises from a change in a factor that market participants would consider in setting a 
price. 

 
The Bank considers that the accounting estimate related to valuation of financial instruments where 
quoted markets prices are not available is a key source of estimation uncertainty because: (i) it is 
highly susceptible to change from period to period because it requires management to make 
assumptions about interest rates, volatility, exchange rates, the credit rating of the counterparty, 
valuation adjustments and specific feature of the transactions and (ii) the impact that recognizing a 
change in the valuations would have on the assets reported on its statement of financial position as 
well as its profit and loss accounts could be material. 
 
Had management used different assumptions regarding the interest rates, volatility, exchange rates, 
the credit rating of the counterparty and valuation adjustments, a larger or smaller change in the 
valuation of financial instruments where quoted market prices are not available would have resulted 
that could have had a material impact on the Bank’s reported net income. 
 
Buildings carried at revalued amounts 
 
Buildings are meausured at revalued amounts. The date of the latest appraisal was December 31, 
2014. The next revaluation is preliminaryly scheduled as at December 31, 2016. The carrying value 
of revalued property amounted to AZN 28,516 thousand and AZN 29,160 thousand as at December 
31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  
 
Useful life of property and equipment 
 
The Bank assesses the remaining useful lives of items of property and equipment at least at each 
financial year-end. If expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a 
change in an accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors”. These estimates may have a material impact on the amount of the 
carrying values of property and equipment and on depreciation recognized in profit or loss. 
 
As described in Note 3 above, the Bank reviews the estimated useful lives of property and equipment 
at the end of each annual reporting period. During the financial year, the management of the Bank 
determined that the useful lives of certain items of property and equipment should be prolonged, due 
to change in pattern of use.  
 
The financial effect of this reassessment, assuming the assets are held until the end of their estimated 
useful lives, is to decrease the depreciation expense in the current financial year and till the end of 
useful life of the asset by AZN 1,729 thousand.  
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Current taxes 
 
Azerbaijani tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations and changes 
occur frequently. Further, the interpretation of tax legislation by tax authorities as applied to the 
transactions and activity of the Bank may not coincide with that of management. As a result, tax 
authorities may challenge transactions and the Bank may be assessed additional taxes, penalties and 
interest, which can be significant. Periods remain open to review by the tax and customs authorities 
with respect to tax liabilities for three calendar years preceding the year of review. Under certain 
circumstances reviews may cover longer periods. 
 
Liquidity mismatch 
 
As disclosed in Note 28 to these financial statements the Bank has a cumulative negative liquidity 
gap up to twelve months as at December 31, 2015 and 2014. Management is confident that the Bank 
will be able to obtain required funds in order to replace attracted liabilities with duration of up to 
twelve months. In particular, management believes that the continued support of its shareholders and 
access to borrowings from international financial institutions means that the Bank would be able to 
obtain appropriate resources should all liabilities require settlement as disclosed in Note 28. 
 
 

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
 
In the current year, the Bank has adopted all of the applicable new and revised Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the IASB and the IFRIC of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and 
effective for annual reporting periods ending in December 31, 2015. The adoption of these new and 
revised Standards and Interpretations has not resulted in significant changes to the Bank’s accounting 
policies that have affected the amounts reported for the current or prior years. 

 
Amendments to IAS 19 “Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions” – The amendments to 
IAS 19 clarify how an entity should account for contributions made by employees or third parties 
that are linked to services to defined benefit plans, based on whether those contributions are 
dependent on the number of years of service provided by the employee.  

 
For contributions that are independent of the number of years of service, the entity may either 
recognize the contributions as a reduction of the service cost in the period in which the related 
service is rendered, or to attribute them to the employees’ periods of service either using the plan’s 
contribution formula or a straight-line basis; whereas for contributions that are dependent on the 
number of years of service, the entity is required to attribute them to the employees; periods of 
service.     

 
The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014. 
 
Annual improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle – The Annual Improvements include 
amendments to a number of IFRSs, which have been summarized below. 
 
Standard Subject of amendment 
  
IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” Definition of vesting condition 
IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” Accounting for contingent consideration in a business 

combination 
IFRS 8 ”Operating Segments” (i) Aggregation of operating segments; 

(ii) Reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments’ 
assets to the entity’s assets. 

IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” Short-term receivables and payables 
IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”; 
IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” 

Revaluation method – proportionate restatement of accumulated 
depreciation (amortization) 

IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” Key management personnel 
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The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014. 

 
Annual improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle – The Annual Improvements include 
amendments to a number of IFRSs, which have been summarized below. 
 
Standard Subject of amendment 
  
IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” Scope exceptions for joint ventures 
IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” Scope of paragraph 52 (portfolio exception) 
IAS 40 “Investment Property” Clarifying the interrelationship between IFRS 3 and IAS 40 when 

classifying property as investment property or owner-occupied 
property.  

 
 
The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014. 

  
Unless otherwise described above, the new Standards and Interpretations are not expected to 
significantly affect the Bank’s financial statements. 
 
 

4. STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED AND NOT YET ADOPTED 
 
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, other than the Standards and Interpretations 
adopted by the Bank in advance of their effective dates, the following Interpretations were in issue 
but not yet effective. 

 
Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”: Disclosure Initiative – The 
amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” clarify, rather than significantly 
change, existing IAS 1 requirements. 
 
The amendments clarify: 
 
• The materiality requirements in IAS 1; 
• That specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

(“OCI”) and the statement of financial position may be disaggregated; 
• That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial 

statements; and 
• That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 

must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will 
or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are 
presented in the statement of financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 
 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. Early 
application is permitted and entities do not need to disclose that fact because the IASB considers 
these amendments to be clarifications that do not affect an entity’s accounting policies or accounting 
estimates. 
 
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 “Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortization” – The amendments to IAS 16 prohibit entities from using a revenue-based 
depreciation method for items of property, plant and equipment. The amendments to IAS 38 
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introduce a rebuttable presumption that revenue is not an appropriate basis for amortization of 
intangible assets. This presumption can only be rebutted in the following two limited circumstances: 

 
a) When the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue; or 
b) When it can be demonstrated that revenue and the consumption of the economic benefits of the 

intangible asset are highly correlated.  
 
The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.   
 
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 “Agriculture”: Bearer Plants – The amendments to IAS 16 
“Property, Plant and Equipment” and IAS 41 “Agriculture” define a bearer plant and require 
biological assets that meet the definition of a bearer plant to be accounted for as property, plant and 
equipment in accordance with IAS 16, instead of IAS 41. In terms of the amendments, bearer plants 
can be measured using either the cost model or the revaluation model set out in IAS 16.  
 
On the initial application of the amendments, entities are permitted to use the fair value of items of 
bearer plant as their deemed cost as at beginning of the earliest period presented. Any difference 
between the previous carrying amount and fair value should be recognized in opening retained 
earnings at the beginning of the earliest period presented.  
 
The produce growing on bearer plants continues to be accounted for in accordance with IAS 41. 
 
The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 
 
Amendments to IAS 27 “Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements” – The amendments 
to IAS 27 “Separate Financial Statements” allow an entity to use the equity method as described in 
IAS 28 to account for its investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in its separate 
financial statements. Therefore, an entity must account for these investments either: 
 
• At cost; 
• In accordance with IFRS 9 (or IAS 39); or 
• Using the equity method. 
 
The entity must apply the same accounting for each category of investments. A consequential 
amendment was also made to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards”. The amendment to IFRS 1 allows a first-time adopter accounting for investments in the 
separate financial statements using the equity method, to apply the IFRS 1 exemption for past 
business combinations to the acquisition of the investment.  
 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. The 
amendments must be applied retrospectively. Early application is permitted and must be disclosed. 

 
Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 “Investment Entities: Applying the 
Consolidation Exception” – The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the 
investment entities exception under IFRS 10. 
 
The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemption (in IFRS 10.4) from presenting consolidated 
financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, when the 
investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value. 
 
Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is 
not an investment entity itself and that provides support services to the investment entity is 
consolidated. All other subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. 
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The amendments to IAS 28 allow the investor, when applying the equity method, to retain the fair 
value measurement applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to its interests in 
subsidiaries. 
 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. The 
amendments must be applied retrospectively. Early application is permitted and must be disclosed. 
 
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture” – The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 
in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint 
venture. 
 
The amendments clarify that the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that 
constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture, is recognized in full. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or 
contribution of assets that do not constitute a business, however, is recognized only to the extent of 
unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture.  
 
The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 
Earlier application is permitted and must be disclosed. 

 
Amendments to IFRS 11 “Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations” – The 
amendments to IFRS 11 provide guidance on how to account for the acquisition of an interest in a 
joint operation in which the activities constitute a business as defined in IFRS 3 “Business 
Combinations”. Specifically, the amendments state that the relevant principles on accounting for 
business combinations in IFRS 3 and other standards (e.g. IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” regarding 
impairment testing of a cash-generating unit to which goodwill on acquisition of a joint operation has 
been allocated) should be applied. The same requirements should be applied to the formation of a 
joint operation if and only if an existing business is contributed to the joint operation by one of the 
parties that participate in the joint operation. 

 
A joint operator is also required to disclose the relevant information required by IFRS 3 and other 
standards for business combinations. 
 
The amendments to IFRS 11 apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2016. 

 
IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” allows rate-regulated entities to continue recognizing 
regulatory deferral accounts in connection with their first-time adoption of IFRS. Existing IFRS 
preparers are prohibited from adopting this standard. Entities that adopt IFRS 14 must present the 
regulatory deferral accounts as separate line items on the statement of financial position and present 
movements in these account balances as separate line items in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. The standard requires disclosures on the nature of, and risks associated 
with, the entity’s rate regulation and the effects of that rate regulation on its financial statements.  
 
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. Earlier application 
is permitted. 
 
Annual improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle – The Annual Improvements include amendments 
to a number of IFRSs, which have been summarized below. 
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Standard Subject of amendment 
  
IFRS 5 “Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued  Operations” 

Changes in methods of disposal 

IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” Servicing contracts and applicability of the offsetting disclosures 
to condensed interim financial statements 

IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” Discount rate: regional market issue 
IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” Disclosure of information “elsewhere in the interim financial 

report” 
 
 
The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. Earlier 
application is permitted and must be disclosed. 

 
The IASB and FASB have issued their joint revenue recognition standard, IFRS 15 “Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers”, which replaces all existing IFRS and US GAAP revenue 
requirements. IFRS 15 specifies how and when an IFRS reporter will recognize revenue as well as 
requiring such entities to provide users of financial statements with more informative, relevant 
disclosures. The standard provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all 
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and applies to an annual reporting period 
beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier application is permitted.  
 
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” issued in November 2009 and amended in October 2010 introduces 
new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and 
for de-recognition.  

 
• IFRS 9 requires all recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 “Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” to be subsequently measured at amortized cost or 
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose objective 
is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at 
amortized cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt investments and 
equity investments are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting 
periods; 

• The most significant effect of IFRS 9 regarding the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities relates to the accounting for changes in fair value of a financial liability (designated 
as at fair value through profit or loss) attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability. 

 
Specifically, under IFRS 9, for financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss, the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes 
in the credit risk of that liability is recognized in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition 
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or 
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit and loss accounts. Changes in fair value attributable to a 
financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit and loss accounts. 
Previously, under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability 
designated as at fair value through profit and loss accounts was recognized in profit and loss 
accounts. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 

 
IFRS 16 “Leases”, which specifies how and IFRS reporter will recognize, measure, present and 
disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to 
recognize assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the 
underlying asset has a low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with 
IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17. 
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IFRS 16 was issued in January 13, 2016 and applies to an annual reporting period beginning on or 
after January 1, 2019.  

 
The management is considering the implications of these standards, their impact on the financial 
statements and the timing of its adoption by the Bank.  
 
 

5. NET INTEREST INCOME 
 
 Year ended 

December 31, 
2015 

 Year ended 
December 31, 

2014 
Interest income comprises:    
Interest income on financial assets recorded at amortized cost:    

Interest income on unimpaired financial assets 47,660  34,345 
Interest income on impaired financial assets  19,297  13,906 
Interest income on guarantees issued and similar commitments 695  954 
Other interest income  10  7 

    
Total interest income 67,662  49,212 

    
Interest income on financial assets recorded at amortized cost comprises:    

Interest income on loans to customers 66,793  48,164 
Interest income on due from banks and other financial institutions 164  87 
Interest income on guarantees issued and similar commitments 695  954 
Other interest income 10  7 
    

Total interest income on financial assets recorded at amortized 
cost 67,662  49,212 

    
Interest expense comprises:    

 Interest on financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost (27,810)  (19,766) 
    

Total interest expense (27,810)  (19,766) 
    
Interest expense on financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost 

comprises:    
Interest expense on customer accounts (16,684)  (12,758) 
Interest expense on due to banks, government and other financial 

institutions (7,981)  (5,177) 
Interest expense on debt securities issued (3,145)  (1,831) 
    

Total interest expense on financial liabilities recorded at 
amortized cost (27,810)  (19,766) 

    
Net interest income before provision for impairment losses on 

interest bearing assets 39,852  29,446 
 
  

31 



“MUGANBANK” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY  
  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 (Continued) 
(In thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 
 
6. ALLOWANCE FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, OTHER PROVISIONS 

 
The movements in allowance for impairment losses on interest bearing assets were as follows: 
 
 Loans to 

customers 
 Due from banks 

and other 
financial 

institutions 

 Total 

      
January 1, 2014 9,137  9  9,146 
      
Additional provisions recognised 11,427  361  11,788 
Write-off of loans (4,654)  -  (4,654) 
Recoveries of loans previously written-off 15  -  15 
      
December 31, 2014 15,925  370  16,295 
      
Additional provisions recognised/(recovery of 

provision) 16,366  (99)  16,267 
Write-off of loans (12,557)  -  (12,557) 
Recoveries of loans previously written-off 10  -  10 
      
December 31, 2015 19,744  271  20,015 
 
 
The movements in allowances for impairment losses on other assets, guarantees and similar 
commitments were as follows: 
 
 Assets held for 

sale 
 Guarantees 

issued and 
similar 

commitments 

 Total 

      
January 1, 2014 -  1,837  1,837 
      
Additional provisions recognised/(recovery of provisions) 391  (1,495)  (1,104) 
      
December 31, 2014 391  342  733 
      
Additional provisions recognized 342  173  515 
      
December 31, 2015 733  515  1,248 

 
 
7. NET (LOSS)/GAIN ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE OPERATIONS 

 
Net (loss)/gain on foreign exchange operations comprises: 
 
 Year ended 

December 31, 
2015 

 Year ended 
December 31, 

2014 
    
Dealing, net 3,143  725 
Translation differences, net (11,083)  (45) 
    

Total net (loss)/gain on foreign exchange operations (7,940)  680 
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As described in Note 2 the Azerbaijani Manat has depreciated against the USD by 98% compared 
with year ended December 31, 2014. As a result, the Bank recognized net foreing exchange loss in 
the amount of AZN 11,083 thousand in the statement of comprehensive income (December 31, 2014: 
AZN 45 thousand). Foreign exchange gain in the amount of AZN 68,348 thousand, AZN 44,551 
thousand, AZN 23,863 thousand and AZN 1,948 thousand related to the loans to customers, cash and 
balances with the CBRA, due from banks and other financial institutions and other financial assets, 
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2015. Simultaneously, foreign exchange loss in the 
amount of AZN 105,075 thousand, AZN 29,038 thousand, AZN 14,873 thousand and AZN 807 
thousand related to customer accounts, due to banks, government and other financial institutions, 
debt securities issued and other financial liabilities, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 
2015. 
 

8. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE 
 
Fee and commission income and expense comprise: 
 
 Year ended 

December 31, 
2015 

 Year ended 
December 31, 

2014 
    
Fee and commission income:    
Cash operations 6,205  6,214 
Foreign exchange operations 1,668  1,445 
Plastic card operations 1,492  547 
Settlements and account servicing operations 622  711 
Documentary operations 683  428 
    

Total fee and commission income 10,670  9,345 

Fee and commission expense: 
  

Cash operations (520)  (736) 
Plastic card operations (414)  (321) 
Documentary operations (393)  (315) 
Settlements and account servicing operations (142)  (167) 
Securities operations (16)  (13) 
    

Total fee and commission expense (1,485)  (1,552) 
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9. OPERATING EXPENSES 

 
Operating expenses comprise: 
 
 Year ended 

December 31, 
2015 

 Year ended 
December 31, 

2014 
    
Staff costs 13,470  11,237 
Depreciation and amortization 2,031  3,639 
Rent expenses 1,471  1,231 
Security expenses 1,095  838 
Communication expenses 846  733 
Advertising expenses 389  617 
Printing and office supplies 523  465 
Repair and maintenance 557  386 
Taxes other than income tax 829  359 
Professional fees 411  304 
Payments to the deposit insurance fund 508  284 
Business trip expenses 307  265 
Utilities 165  152 
Insurance expenses 117  92 
Software maintenance 128  90 
Membership fees 19  13 
Other expenses 514  482 
    

Total operating expenses  23,380  21,187 
 
 
10. INCOME TAXES 

 
The Bank measures and records its current income tax payable and its tax bases related to assets and 
liabilities in accordance with the statutory tax regulations of the Republic of Azerbaijan where the 
Bank operates, which differ from IFRS.  
 
The Bank is subject to certain permanent tax differences due to non-tax deductibility of certain 
expenses and certain income being treated as non-taxable for tax purposes. 
 
Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes. 
Temporary differences as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 relate mostly to different methods/timing 
of income and expense recognition as well as to temporary differences generated by taxation bases’ 
differences for certain assets. 
 
Tax legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan in particular may give rise to varying interpretations 
and amendments. In addition, as management’s interpretation of tax legislation may differ from that 
of the tax authorities, transactions may be challenged by the tax authorities, and as a result the Bank 
may be assessed additional taxes, penalties and interest which could be material for these financial 
statements. 
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Temporary differences as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 comprise: 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
  

Deductible temporary differences:    
Other assets 48  38 
    
Total deductible temporary differences 48  38 
    Taxable temporary differences:    
Property and equipment (3,253)  (2,133) 

    
Total taxable temporary differences (3,253)  (2,133) 
    Net taxable temporary differences (3,205)  (2,095) 

    
Net deferred tax liability  641  419 

 
 

Relationships between tax expenses and accounting profit for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 
2014 are explained as follows: 
 
 Year ended 

December 31, 
2015 

 Year ended 
December 31, 

2014 
    
Profit before income tax 957  6,067 
    Statutory tax rate  20%  20% 
    
Theoretical tax at the statutory tax rate  (191)  (1,213) 
Tax effect of permanent differences (322)  (156) 
    

Income tax expense (513)  (1,369) 
    Current income tax expense (291)  (1,423) 
Deferred tax (expense)/benefit recognized in profit and loss accounts (222)  54 
    

Income tax expense (513)  (1,369) 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
Deferred tax liability    
    
Beginning of the period 419  311 
Change in the deferred income tax recognized in profit and loss 

accounts 222  (54) 
Change in the deferred income tax recognized in other components of 

comprehensive income -  162 
    

End of the period 641  419 
 
 

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculation of basic and 
diluted earnings per share are as follows: 
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Year ended 
December 31, 

2015 

 Year ended 
December 31, 

2014 
    
Profit:    
Net profit for the year 444  4,698 
    
Earnings used in calculation of earnings per share 444  4,698 

    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic 

and diluted earnings per share 237,911  220,228 
    

Earnings per share – basic and diluted (AZN) 1.87  21.33 
 
 
12. CASH AND BALANCES WITH THE CENTRAL BANK OF THE REPUBLIC OF AZERBAIJAN 

 
Cash and balances with the CBRA comprise: 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Balances with the CBRA 85,012  49,295 
Cash on hand 33,027  10,955 
    

Total cash and balances with the CBRA 118,039  60,250 
 

 
The obligatory minimum reserve deposits with the CBRA included in the balances with the CBRA  
as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, in the amount of AZN 1,508 thousand and AZN 3,566 thousand, 
respectively, which represent the minimum reserve deposits required by the CBRA. The Bank is 
required to maintain the reserve balance at the CBRA at all times provided that average daily balance 
for 30 days period will be eventually higher than required mandatory reserve. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows comprise:  
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Cash and balances with the CBRA 118,039  60,250 
Due from banks in OECD countries excluding restricted balances  

(Note 28) 22,544  35,996 
    
 140,583  96,246 
    
Less: restricted cash with the CBRA (78,750)  - 
Less: minimum reserve deposit with the CBRA (1,508)  (3,566) 
Less: commemorative coins (2)  (3) 
    

Total cash and cash equivalents 60,323  92,677 
 
Restricted cash with the CBRA in the amount of AZN 78,750 thousand represents cash balances in 
US Dollars pledged as a collateral for loans attracted from the CBRA in national currency  in the 
amount of AZN 50,000 thousand as at December 31, 2015 (2014:nil). 
 

  

36 



“MUGANBANK” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY  
  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 (Continued) 
(In thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 
Financing transactions that did not require the use of cash and cash equivalents and were excluded 
from the statement of cash flows are as follows: 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Capital contributions from shareholders in the form of capitalization of  

retained earnings 4,694  4,000 
    

Non-cash financing activities 4,694  4,000 
 
 

13. DUE FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 
 
Due from banks and other financial institutions comprises: 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Correspondent accounts with other banks and other financial institutions 22,574  36,498 
Loans to banks and other financial institutions 3,780  505 
Restricted deposits 706  4 
    
Less allowance for impairment losses (271)  (370) 
    

Total due from banks and other financial intitutions 26,789  36,637 
 
 
Movements in the allowance for impairment losses on balances due from banks and other financial 
institutions for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are disclosed in Note 6. 
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014 included in accrued interest receivable on due from banks and 
other financial insititutions amounted to AZN 65 thousand and AZN 5, respectively. 
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, maximum credit risk exposure of due from banks and other 
financial intitutions amounted to AZN 26,789 thousand and AZN 36,637 thousand, respectively. 
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14. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS 

 
Loans to customers comprise: 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Corporate loans 76,040     68,529 
Loans to individuals - pensioner loans 175,063     106,121 
Loans to individuals - entrepreneurship loans 80,315     66,005 
Loans to individuals - mortgage loans 40,546     40,192 
Loans to individuals - consumer loans 20,849     15,254 
Loans to individuals - car loans 7,323     8,487 
    
Less allowance for impairment losses (19,744)  (15,925) 
    

Total loans to customers, net 380,392  288,663    
 
 

Included in loans to customers is accrued interest receivable in the amount of AZN 25,263 thousand 
and AZN 15,429 thousand as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
Movements in allowance for impairment losses on loans to customers for the years ended December 31, 
2015 and 2014 are disclosed in Note 6. 
 
The table below summarizes carrying value of loans to customers analyzed by type of collateral 
obtained by the Bank: 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Unsecured loans 206,103  127,983 
Loans collateralized by pledge of real estate 147,953  129,369 
Loans collateralized by cash deposits 11,850  10,293 
Loans collateralized by pledge of vehicles 8,821  12,380 
Loans collateralized by guarantees 3,702  3,161 
Loans collateralized by securities 897  547 
Loans collateralized by pledge of inventories 100  1,756 
Loans collateralized by others 966  3,174 
    

Total loans to customers 380,392  288,663 
 
 

 December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014 
        
Analysis by industry:        
Consumption 236,724  62.23%  165,871  57.46% 
Trade and service 63,213  16.62%  54,040  18.72% 
Agriculture 36,239  9.53%  31,130  10.78% 
Manufacturing 32,816  8.63%  23,834  8.26% 
Construction 10,626  2.79%  12,562  4.35% 
Insurance and leasing 772  0.20%  1,214  0.43% 
Others 2  0.00%  12  0.00% 

        
Total loans to customers 380,392  100.00%  288,663  100.00% 
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Information about collateral at December 31, 2015 is as follows: 
 

 Corporate 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

pensioner 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

entrepreneur- 
ship loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

mortgage 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

consumer 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

car loans 

 Total 

              
Unsecured loans 3,610  175,029  25,038  -  9,794  -  213,471 
Loans collateralized 
by:     

 
         

real estate 66,643  -  48,699  40,546  1,783  -  157,671 
cash deposits 3,983  -  3,062  -  4,806  -  11,851 
vehicles 830  -  2,765  -  18  7,323  10,936 
guarantees 652  34  573  -  2,754  -  4,013 
jewellery -  -  165  -  885  -  1,050 
inventories 91  -  9  -  -  -  100 
securities 231  -  4  -  809  -  1,044 

              
Less: Provision for 
loan impairment (4,467)  (3,453) 

 
(8,215)  (405)  (1,772)  (1,432)  (19,744) 

              
Total loans  
to customers, net 71,573  171,610 

 
72,100  40,141  19,077  5,891  380,392 

 
 

Information about collateral at December 31, 2014 is as follows: 
 

 
 

Corporate 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

pensioner 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

entrepreneur- 
ship loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

mortgage 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

consumer 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

car loans 

 Total 

              
Unsecured loans 3,181  106,036  16,801  -  7,011  9  133,038 
Loans collateralized 
by:     

 
         

real estate 54,869  -  41,555  40,192  1,736  -  138,352 
cash deposits 5,173  -  2,413  -  2,835  -  10,421 
vehicles 2,348  -  2,685  -  94  8,478  13,605 
guarantees 1,369  85  525  -  1,548  -  3,527 
jewellery 552  -  459  -  1,624  -  2,635 
inventories 806  -  976  -  -  -  1,782 
securities 231  -  -  -  389  -  620 
Others -  -  591  -  17  -  608 

              
Less: Provision for 
loan impairment (3,773)  (1,420) 

 
(7,969)  (417)  (1,671)  (675)  (15,925) 

              
Total loans  
to customers, net 64,756  104,701 

 
58,036  39,775  13,583  7,812  288,663 
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The analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding in December 31, 2015 is as follows: 
 

 Corporate 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

pensioner 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

entrepreneur- 
ship loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

mortgage 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

consumer 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

car loans 

 Total 

              
Total current and 
not impaired loans 71,203  161,506  71,172  40,442  17,284  3,792  365,399 

              
Loans individually 
determined to be 
impaired              

less than 30 days 
overdue 49  8,003  661  25  51  36  8,825 

30 to 90 days 
overdue 33  3,854  763  79  199  262  5,190 

90 to 180 days 
overdue 115  1,566  1,544  -  377  970  4,572 

180 to 360 days 
overdue 3,298  133  788  -  820  1,829  6,868 

over 360 days 
overdue 1,342  1  5,387  -  2,118  434  9,282 

              
Total individually 

impaired loans  4,837  13,557  9,143  104  3,565  3,531  34,737 
              
Gross carrying 

value of total loans 
to customers 76,040  175,063  80,315  40,546  20,849  7,323  400,136 

              
Less provision for 

loan impairment  (4,467)  (3,453)  (8,215)  (405)  (1,772)  (1,432)  (19,744) 
              

Total loans to 
customers, net  71,573  171,610  72,100  40,141  19,077  5,891  380,392 
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The analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding in December 31, 2014 is as follows:  
 

 Corporate 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

pensioner 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

entrepreneur- 
ship loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

mortgage 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

consumer 
loans 

 Loans to 
individuals - 

car loans 

 Total 

              
Total current and 
not impaired loans 65,006  104,024  57,971  40,068  12,039  5,325  284,433 

              
Loans individually 
determined to be 
impaired              

less than 30 days 
overdue 35  823  1,115  -  347  608  2,928 

30 to 90 days 
overdue 16  1,108  964  -  850  1,715  4,653 

90 to 180 days 
overdue 60  157  1,069  80  510  655  2,531 

180 to 360 days 
overdue 2,058  9  2,190  44  325  147  4,773 

over 360 days 
overdue 1,354  -  2,696  -  1,183  37  5,270 

              
Total individually 

impaired loans  3,523  2,097  8,034  124  3,215  3,162  20,155 
              
Gross carrying 

value of total loans 
to customers 68,529  106,121  66,005  40,192  15,254  8,487  304,588 

              
Less provision for 

loan impairment  (3,773)  (1,420)  (7,969)  (417)  (1,671)  (675)  (15,925) 
              
Total loans to 

customers  64,756  104,701  58,036  39,775  13,583  7,812  288,663 
 
 
In these financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS, the Bank applied the portfolio 
provisioning methodology prescribed by IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, and created portfolio provisions for impairment losses that were incurred, but have not 
been specifically identified with any individual loan by the end of the reporting period. The Bank’s 
policy is to classify each loan as “current and not impaired” until a specific objective evidence of 
impairment of the loan is identified.  
 
The Bank considers whether a loan is impaired based on its overdue status and reliability of related 
collateral, if any. As a result, the Bank presented the above ageing analysis of loans that are 
determined to be impaired. 
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank had two loans to customers, net totaling to AZN 
13,537 thousand and AZN 11,771 thousand, respectively, which individually exceeded 10% of the 
Bank’s equity. 
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, loans to customers included loans in the amount of AZN 22,194 
thousand and AZN 11,173 thousand, respectively, with original terms renegotiated. Otherwise these 
loans would be past due or impaired.  
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As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, maximum credit risk exposure of loans to customers amounted 
to AZN 380,392 thousand and AZN 288,663 thousand, respectively.  
 
 

15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  
 

 Land and 
buildings 

 Furniture 
and 

fixtures 

 Computer 
and 

equipments 

 Vehicles  Other 
fixed 
assets 

 Construction 
in progress 

 Total 

At revalued/initial cost              
              January 1, 2014 34,586  5,733  1,599  1,471  176  -  43,565 

              
Effect of revaluation 853  -  -  -  -  -  853 
Eliminated on revaluation (6,282)  -  -  -  -  -  (6,282) 
Additions 29  647  392  767  144  -  1,979 
Disposals -  (31)  (78)  (33)  (15)  -  (157) 
              
December 31, 2014 29,186  6,349  1,913  2,205  305  -  39,958 
 
 

             
Additions 12  310  139  351  45  115  972 
Disposals -  (69)  (114)  (9)  (15)  -  (207) 
              
December 31, 2015 29,198  6,590  1,938  2,547  335  115  40,723 
              Accumulated depreciation              
              January 1, 2014 (3,912)  (2,784)  (770)  (458)  (88)  -  (8,012) 
              
Eliminated on revaluation 6,282  -  -  -  -  -  6,282 
Charge for the year (2,374)  (679)  (285)  (191)  (45)  -  (3,574) 
Eliminated on disposals -  31  78  17  15  -  141 
              
December 31, 2014 (4)  (3,432)  (977)  (632)  (118)  -  (5,163) 
              
Charge for the year (646)  (722)  (285)  (231)  (60)  -  (1,944) 
Eliminated on disposals  -  69  114  6  15  -  204 
              
December 31, 2015 (650)  (4,085)  (1,148)  (857)  (163)  -  (6,903) 
              
Net book value              

              
December 31, 2015 28,548  2,505  790  1,690  172  115  33,820 
              
December 31, 2014 29,182  2,917  936  1,573  187  -  34,795 

 
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, included in property and equipment were fully depreciated 
assets in the amount of AZN 913 thousand and AZN 570 thousand, respectively.  
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, included in property and equipment insured in the amount of 
AZN 30,189 thousand and AZN 30,717 thousand, respectively. 
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, property and equipment totalling AZN 11,946 thousand and nil 
were pledged as collateral on deposits of Bank Melli Iran Baku branch in the amount of AZN 9,001 
thousand and nil, respectively. 
 
Buildings were independently valued as at December 31, 2014. The valuation was performed by an 
independent firm of valuers, CPS Reserach Ltd. The valuation, which was performed in accordance 
with IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”, was arrived at by reference to market evidence of 
transaction prices for similar properties. 
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Details of the Bank’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows: 
 
 December 31, 2015                   December 31, 2014 
 Level 2   Fair value  Level 2  Fair value 
        

Buildings 28,548  28,548  29,182  29,182 
        
Total 28,548  28,548  29,182  29,182 

 
 

16. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
 
According to the state registration certificate of the Azerbaijan Republic the real estate collateralized 
for customer loans have been repossessed by the Bank, due to default of the borrowers.  
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the fair value of the real estate approximates to AZN 433 
thousand and AZN 396 thousand, respectively. 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Non-current assets held for sale 1,166  787 
    
Less: allowance for impairment losses (733)  (391) 
    

Total non-current assets held for sale 433  396 
 
 
Management believes that these assets will be sold within one year period after the reporting date. 
 

17. OTHER ASSETS 
 
Other assets comprise: 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
Other financial assets:    

Foreign currency trading funds 1,586  448 
Accrued interest receivable on gurantees issued and similar 

commitments 417  188 
Settlements on plastic cards 251  57 
Settlements on money transfers  32  64 
Others 27  - 

    
Total other financial assets 2,313  757 

    
Other non-financial assets:    

Prepaid taxes 1,148  - 
Intangible assets 645  411 
Prepayments 532  774 
Deferred commission expense 214  174 
Others 6  - 

    
Total other assets 4,858  2,116 
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Foreign currency trading funds in the amount of AZN 1,586 thousand as at December 31, 2015 
(2014: AZN 448 thousand) represents deposits kept with international financial institution LMAX 
Ltd., which primarily are being used to hedge the Bank’s risks regarding the traders utilizing the 
Bank’s trading platform to trade on international foreign exchange markets.  
 
Movements in the allowance for impairment losses on gurantees issued and similar commitments for 
the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are disclosed in Note 6. 

 
Intangible assets include software and licenses. 
 
 Intangible 

Assets 
  
At cost  
  
January 1, 2014 625 
  
Additions 95 
Disposals (1) 
  
December 31, 2014 719 
  
Additions 321 
  
December 31, 2015 1,040 
  Accumulated amortization  
  
January 1, 2014 (244) 
  
Charge for the year (65) 
Eliminated on disposals 1 
  
December 31, 2014 (308) 
  
Charge for the year (87) 
  
December 31, 2015 (395) 
  Net book value  
  
December 31, 2015 645 
  December 31, 2014 411 
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18. DUE TO BANKS, GOVERNMENT AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSITUTIONS 

 
Due to banks, government and other financial institutions comprise: 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Loans from the CBRA 72,100  26,466 
Loans from Mortgage Fund under the CBRA  40,262  39,022 
Loans from National Fund for Support of Entrepreneurship 33,233  29,074 
Loans from Islamic Corporation for the Development of the Private 

Sector 12,254  12,194 
Correspondent accounts of banks and other financial institutions 11,679  6,625 
Loans from World Business Capital 11,175  7,170 
Loans from State Agency for Agrucultural Credits under the Ministry of 

Agriculture 10,607  12,811 
Deposits from Bank Melli Iran Baku branch 9,001  - 
Deposits from Mortgage Fund under the CBRA 6,658  8,230 
Loans from European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 6,649  4,635 
Deposits from Pakistan National Bank Baku branch 2,036  - 
Loans from European Fund for Southeast Europe 1,535  3,887 
Loans from Green for Growth Fund 1,529  3,886 
Due to banks -  10,803 
    

Total due to banks, government and other financial institutions 218,718  164,803 
 
 

Included in due to banks, government and other financial institutions in the amount of AZN 705 
thousand and AZN 1,132 thousand as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively is accrued 
interest payable. 
 
The Bank is obligated to comply with financial covenants in relation to certain balances due to 
banks, government and other financial institutions disclosed above. These covenants include 
stipulated ratios, debt to equity ratios and various other financial performance ratios. The Bank did 
not have any significant issues with these covenants during the years ended December 31, 2015 
and 2014 which could cause early withdrawal of the borrowings. 
 
 

19. CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS 
 
Customer accounts comprise: 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Time deposits 239,441  137,307 
Current and settlement accounts 18,029  44,010 
    

Total customer accounts 257,470  181,317 
 
 
Included in customer accounts in the amount of AZN 7,198 thousand and AZN 4,605 thousand as at 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively is accrued interest payable. 

 
Included in customer accounts in the amount of AZN 28,294 thousand and AZN 15,150 thousand as 
at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively are deposits blocked as collateral for loans issued. 
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Included in customer accounts in the amount of AZN 154,363 thousand and AZN 50,987 thousand as 
at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively are deposits secured by the Azerbaijan Deposit 
Insurance Fund. 
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, customer accounts in the amount of AZN 4,199 thousand (2%) 
and AZN 11,962 thousand (6%), were due to one legal entity, which represents significant 
concentration. 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
Analysis by sector:    

Individuals 221,430  119,994 
Insurance, leasing and other financial institutions 21,001  21,908 
Construction  4,715  22,198 
Trade 3,193  12,990 
Manufacturing 3,056  3,652 
Entrepreneurship 2,413  220 
Transport and communications 146  39 
Agriculture 63  278 
Others 1,453  38 

    
Total customer accounts 257,470  181,317 

 
 
20. DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED 

 

 
December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Euro-Commercial papers through a private placement 20,190  10,774 
Registered bonds in Central Depository of Latvia 10,008  5,675 
Registered bonds in State Committee for Securties of the Republic of 

Azerbaijan 2,054 
 

4,629 
    

Total debt securities issued 32,252  21,078 
 
 
Debt securities issued represent bonds for the total amount of AZN 32,252 thousand as at December 
31, 2015 (2014: AZN 21,078 thousand) of which AZN 2,054 thousand issued by the Bank registered 
in the State Committee for Securties of the Republic of Azerbaijan with the face value of AZN 50 
each and on demand with annual fixed coupon rate equal to 2%. Bond holders have the right to 
demand repayment of principal any time. There are no restrictions regarding sale and purchase of the 
bonds in the secondary markets.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014 the Bank started up a USD 50 million Euro-Commercial 
Paper Programme (ECP programme) through a private placement with the support of BCP Securities 
(USA) and BNP Paribas (UK). 
 
On June 30, 2015, the Bank issued USD 13,800 thousand Euro-Commercial papers due in 1 year 
with an interest rate of 11.18% per annum. Interest rate on these bonds is payable annually.  
 
During 2013 as an agreement between “Muganbank” OJSC and “LCD” JSC (Central Depository of 
Latvia) the Bank issued 7,000 debt securities with the face value of USD 1,000 each with maturity 
date on March 5, 2016 with annual fixed coupon rate equal to 11%. The issuer will withhold 10% tax 
on source, the coupon rate net of tax to be transferred to the LCD is 9.9%. Bond holders have the 
right to demand early repayment of principal on March 5, 2015. The Bank repaid
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USD 800 thousand to several bondholders on March 5, 2015. There are no restrictions regarding sale 
and purchase of the bonds in the secondary markets.  
 
Included in debt securities issued is accrued interest payable in the amount of AZN 1,676 thousand 
and AZN 1,075 thousand as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
 

21. OTHER LIABILITIES 
 
Other liabilities comprise: 
 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Other financial liabilities:    
Accounts of foreign currency traders 1,033  482 
Settlements payable 455  1,528 
Settlements on plastic cards 245  119 
Payables to Azerbaijan Deposit Insurance Fund 165  64 
Accrued expenses 74  91 
Others -  20 
    
Total other financial liabilities 1,972  2,304 

    Other non-financial liabilities:    
Provision for guarantees and similar commitments (see Note 6) 511  340 
Taxes, other than income tax payable 9  54 
Others 62  31 
    

Total other liabilities 2,554  2,729 
 
 

The balance of accounts of foreign currency traders in the amount of AZN 1,033 thousand represents 
deposits received by the Bank from its customers who utilize the Bank’s trading platform to trade on 
international foreign exchange markets as at December 31, 2015 (2014: AZN 482 thousand). 
 
 

22. SHARE CAPITAL  
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, authorized, issued and paid-in share capital consisted of 250,000 
and 226,529 ordinary shares with par value of AZN 200 each. All shares are ranked equally and 
carry one vote. 

 
The below table provides a reconciliation of the number and amount of ordinary shares outstanding 
as at December 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 
 Number of 

ordinary shares 
 Amount of 

ordinary shares 
    

January 1, 2014 206,529  41,306 
    
Issue of ordinary shares 20,000  4,000 
    
December 31, 2014 226,529  45,306 
    
Issue of ordinary shares 23,471  4,694 
    
December 31, 2015 250,000  50,000 
 

47 



“MUGANBANK” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY  
  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 (Continued) 
(In thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 
During 2015 year net profit of 2014 in the amount of AZN 4,694 thousand was capitalized as a share 
capital increase, (2014: net profit of 2013 in the amount of AZN 4,000 thousand was capitalized as a 
share capital increase).  
 
During 2015 the Bank didn’t declare and pay dividends on ordinary shares (2014: AZN 80 
thousand). 
 
 

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
In the normal course of business, the Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet 
risk in order to meet the needs of its customers. These instruments, involving varying degrees of 
credit risk, are not reflected in the statement of financial position.  
 
The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit loss under contingent liabilities and commitments to extend 
credit, in the event of non-performance by the other party where all counterclaims, collateral or security 
prove valueless, is represented by the contractual amounts of those instruments. 
 
The Bank uses the same credit control and management policies in undertaking off-balance sheet 
commitments as it does for on-balance operations. 

 
Provision for losses on contingent liabilities amounted to AZN 511 thousand and AZN 340 thousand 
as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014 contingent liabilities comprise: 

 
 December 31, 

2015 
 December 31, 

2014 
    
Contingent liabilities and credit commitments    
Guarantees issued and similar commitments 51,111  34,048 
Commitments on loans and unused credit lines 18,651  8,984 

    
Total contingent liabilities and credit commitments 69,762  43,032 

 
 
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, included in commitments on loans and unused credit lines are 
AZN 18,651 thousand and AZN 8,984 thousand, respectively, representing the Bank’s commitments 
to extend loans within unused credit line limits that are conditioned on the following: a borrower has 
to apply to the Bank each time it wants to extend its borrowings within preliminary unused portion 
and the Bank may approve the extension of finance based on a borrower’s financial performance, 
debt service and other credit risk characteristics. 

 
Legal proceedings 
 
From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Bank are received from 
customers and counterparties. Management is of the opinion that no material unaccrued losses will 
be incurred and accordingly no provision has been made in these financial statements. 
 
Taxation 
 
Commercial legislation and tax legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan in particular may give rise 
to varying interpretations and amendments. In addition, as management’s interpretation of tax 
legislation may differ from that of the tax authorities, transactions may be challenged by the tax 

48 



“MUGANBANK” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY  
  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 (Continued) 
(In thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 
 

 

 
authorities, and as a result, the Bank may be assessed additional taxes, penalties and interest.  
The Bank believes that it has already made all tax payments, and therefore no allowance has been 
made in the financial statements. Tax years remain open to review by the tax authorities for three 
years. 

 
 
24. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES  

 
Related parties or transactions with related parties, as defined by IAS 24 “Related party disclosures”, 
represent: 
 
(a) Parties that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries: control, or are controlled 

by, or are under common control with, the Bank (this includes parents, subsidiaries and fellow 
subsidiaries); have an interest in the Bank that gives then significant influence over the Bank 
and that have joint control over the Bank; 

(b) Associates – enterprises on which the Bank has significant influence and which is neither a 
subsidiary nor a joint venture of the investor; 

(c) Members of key management personnel of the Bank or its parent;  
(d) Close members of the family of any individuals referred to in (a) or (c); 
(e) Parties that are entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which; 
(f) Significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual 

referred to in (c) or (d); or 
(g) Post-employment benefit plans for the benefit of employees of the Bank, or of any entity that is 

a related party of the Bank. 
 
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the 
relationship, and not merely the legal form. Details of transactions between the Bank and other 
related parties are disclosed below: 

 
 December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014 
 Related party 

balances 
 Total category  

as per financial 
statements 

caption 

 Related party 
balances 

 Total category  
as per financial 

statements 
caption 

        
Loans to customers:    380,392    288,663 

- shareholders of the Bank 4,890    3,286   
- key management personnel  4,230    3,091   
        

Allowance for impairment losses, 
other provisions    20,015    16,295 

- shareholders of the Bank 45    33   
- key management personnel  36    31   
        

        
Customer accounts   257,470    181,317 

- shareholders of the Bank 26,609    19,985   
- key management personnel  3,117    3,168   
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 December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014 
 Related party 

balances 
 Total category  

as per off-
balance sheet 

item 

 Related party 
balances 

 Total category  
as per off-

balance sheet 
item 

        
Commitments on loans and 

unused credit lines   18,651    8,984 
- shareholders of the Bank 454    1,353   
- key management personnel 653    456   

 
 

Included in statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are 
the following amounts which arose due to transactions with related parties:  
 
 Year ended 

December 31, 2015 
 Year ended 

December 31, 2014 
 Related party 

transactions 
 Total category  

as per financial 
statements 

caption 

 Related party 
transactions 

 Total category 
as per financial 

statements 
caption 

        
Interest income   67,662    49,212 

- shareholders of the Bank 446    370   
- key management personnel  378    299   

        
Interest expense   (27,810)    (19,766) 

- shareholders of the Bank (2,928)    (2,196)   
- key management personnel  (296)    (723)   

        
Provision for impairment losses 

on interest bearing assets   (16,267)    (11,788) 
- shareholders of the Bank (12)    (17)   
- key management personnel  (5) 

 
   (10)   

 
 

 Year ended 
December 31, 2015 

 Year ended 
December 31, 2014 

 Related party 
transactions 

 Total category 
as per financial 

statements 
caption 

 Related party 
transactions 

 Total category 
as per financial 

statements 
caption 

        
Key management personnel 

compensation:  
 

13,470 
 

 
 

11,237 
- short-term employee benefits 1,248    716   

 
 

25. OPERATING SEGMENTS  
 
Business segments 
 
The Bank is organized on the basis of two main business segments: 
 
• Retail banking – representing private banking services, private customer current accounts, 

savings, deposits, investment savings products, custody, credit and debit cards, consumer loans 
and mortgages; 
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• Corporate banking – representing direct debit facilities, current accounts, deposits, overdrafts, 

loan and other credit facilities, foreign currency and derivative products. 
 
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of 
significant accounting policies.Transactions between the operating segments consist only of 
reallocating of funds. Funds are ordinarily reallocated between segments, resulting in funding cost 
transfers disclosed in operating income. Interest charged for these funds are based on the Bank’s cost 
of capital. There are no other material items of income or expense between the business segments. 
Internal charges and transfer pricing adjustments have been reflected in the performance of each 
business. Revenue sharing agreements are used to allocate external customer revenues to a business 
segment on a reasonable basis. 

 
Segment information about these businesses is presented below: 
 

 

Retail 
Banking 

 Corporate 
banking 

 Non-allocated 

 

As at and for the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2015 

        
Interest income 60,301  7,361  -  67,662 
Interest expense (15,488)  (12,322)  -  (27,810) 
Provision for impairment losses on 

interest bearing assets (6,007)  (10,260)  -  (16,267) 
Net gain on foreign exchange operations -  -  (7,940)  (7,940) 
Fee and commission income 7,036  3,634  -  10,670 
Fee and commission expense -  (1,485)  -  (1,485) 
Recovery of provision for impairment 

losses on other operations -  (515)  -  (515) 
Other income -  -  22  22 
        
Operating income 45,842  (13,587)  (7,918)  24,337 
Operating expenses -  -  (23,380)  (23,380) 
        
Profit/(loss) before income tax 45,842  (13,587)  (31,298)  957 
        
Income tax expense -  -  (513)  (513) 
        
Net profit/(loss) for the year 45,842  (13,587)  (31,811)  444 
        
Segment assets 308,819  216,401  39,111  564,331 
        
Segment liabilities 223,484  284,956     3,195     511,635 
        
Other segment items:        
Depreciation and amortization charge on 

property, equipment and intangible 
assets -  -  2,031  2,031 

Loans to customers 308,819  71,573  -  380,392 
Property, equipment and intangible assets  -  -  34,465  34,465 
Customer accounts 221,430  36,040  -  257,470 
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Retail 
Banking 

 Corporate 
banking 

 Non-allocated 

 

As at and for the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2014 

        
Interest income 40,236  8,976  -  49,212 
Interest expense (11,535)  (8,231)  -  (19,766) 
Provision for impairment losses on 

interest bearing assets (10,289)  (1,499)  -  (11,788) 
Net gain on foreign exchange operations -  -  680  680 
Fee and commission income 4,954  4,391  -  9,345 
Fee and commission expense -  (1,552)  -  (1,552) 
Recovery of provision for impairment 

losses on other operations -  1,104  -  1,104 
Other income -  -  19  19 
        
Operating income 23,366  3,189  699  27,254 
Operating expenses -  -  (21,187)  (21,187) 
        
Profit/(loss) before income tax 23,366  3,189  (20,488)  6,067 
        
Income tax expense -  -  (1,369)  (1,369) 
        
Net profit/(loss) for the year 23,366  3,189  (21,857)  4,698 
        
Segment assets 223,907  161,643  37,307  422,857 
        
Segment liabilities 124,843  242,355  3,407  370,605 
 
 
 

       
Other segment items        
Depreciation and amortization charge on 

property, equipment and intangible 
assets -  -  3,639  3,639 

Loans to customers 223,907  64,756  -  288,663 
Property, equipment and intangible assets  -  -  35,206  35,206 
Customer accounts 119,994  61,323  -  181,317 
  
 
The Bank conducts its activities only within the Republic of Azerbaijan and major parts of its 
revenue and net profit arrives from operations in the Republic of Azerbaijan. 
 
 

26. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014 the Bank had no financial instruments measured at fair value. 
 

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and 
analyses them by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is 
categorised. 
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    Fair value measurement using 
           

 

 

Date of valuation  Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 
(Level 1) 

 Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2) 

 Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3) 

 Total 

           
Assets for which fair values 

are disclosed     
 

 
 

   
Cash and balances with CBRA  December 31, 2015  118,039  -  -  118,039 
Due from banks and other 

financial institutions 
 

 December 31, 2015  -  -  26,789  26,789 
Loans to customers  December 31, 2015  -  -  380,392  380,392 
Other financial assets  December 31, 2015  -  -  2,313  2,313 
           
Liabilities for which fair 

values are disclosed           
Due to banks, government and 

other financial institutions  December 31, 2015  -  -  218,718  218,718 
Customer accounts  December 31, 2015  -    257,470  257,470 
Debt securities issued  December 31, 2015  -  30,198  2,054  32,252 
Other financial liabilities  December 31, 2015  -  -  1,972  1,972 

 
 

    Fair value measurement using 
           

 

 

Date of valuation  Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 
(Level 1) 

 Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2) 

 Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3) 

 Total 

           
Assets for which fair values 

are disclosed     
 

 
 

   
Cash and balances with CBRA  December 31, 2014  60,250  -  -  60,250 
Due from banks and other 

financial institutions 
 

 December 31, 2014  -  -  36,637  36,637 
Loans to customers  December 31, 2014  -  -  288,663  288,663 
Other financial assets  December 31, 2014  -  -  757  757 
           
Liabilities for which fair 

values are disclosed           
Due to banks, government and 

other financial institutions  December 31, 2014  -  -  164,803  164,803 
Customer accounts  December 31, 2014  -  -  181,317  181,317 
Debt securities issued  December 31, 2014  -  16,449  4,629  21,078 
Other financial liabilities  December 31, 2014  -  -  2,304  2,304 

 
 
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value  
 
Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial 
instruments that are not carried at fair value in the statement of financial position. The table does not 
include the fair values of non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities. 
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 Carrying 
value 2015 

 Fair value 
2015 

 Unrecognized 
gain/(loss) 

2015 

 Carrying 
value 2014 

 Fair value 
2014 

 Unrecognized 
gain/(loss) 

2014 
            
Financial assets            
Cash and balances with 

CBRA 118,039  118,039  - 
 

60,250  60,250  - 
Due from banks and 

other financial 
institutions 26,789  26,789  - 

 

36,637  36,637  - 
Loans to customers 380,392  380,392  -  288,663  288,663  - 
Other financial assets 2,313  2,313  -  757  757  - 
            
Financial liabilities            
Due to banks, 

government and other 
financial institutions 218,718  218,718  - 

 

164,803  164,803  - 
Customer accounts 257,470  257,470  -  181,317  181,317  - 
Debt securities issued 32,252  32,252  -  21,078  21,078   
Other financial 

liabilities 1,972  1,972  - 
 

2,304  2,304  - 
            Total unrecognized 

change in unrealised 
fair value     - 

 

    - 
 
 

Assets and liabilities for which fair value approximates carrying value 
 

For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or having a short term maturity (less than 
three months) it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This 
assumption is also applied to demand deposits, without a specific maturity and variable rate financial 
instruments. 
 

Fixed and variable rate financial instruments 
 

For quoted debt instruments the fair values are determined based on quoted market prices. The fair 
values of unquoted debt instruments are estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates 
currently available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. 
 
 

27. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Under the current capital requirements set by the CBRA banks have to: (a) hold the minimum level 
of total statutory capital of AZN  50,000 thousand  (December 31, 2014: AZN 10,000 thousand); (b) 
maintain a ratio of regulatory capital to risk weighted assets ("statutory capital ratio") at or above a 
prescribed minimum of 10% (December 31, 2014: 12%) and (c) maintain a ratio of tier-1 capital to 
the risk-weighted assets (the 'Tier-1 capital ratio') at or above the prescribed minimum of 5% 
(December 31, 2014:6%) The Bank complied with these requirements. 
 
The ratio was calculated according to the principles employed by the Basel Committee by applying 
the following risk estimates to the assets and off-balance sheet commitments net of allowances for 
impairment losses: 
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Estimate Description of position 

  
0% Cash and balances with the CBRA 
0% State debt securities in Azerbaijani Manats 

20% Loans and advances to banks for up to 1 year 
100% Loans and advances to customers (excluding others for residential purposes which are at 

50%) 
100% Other assets 
50% Obligations and commitments on unused loans with the initial maturity of over 1 year 

100% Guarantees  
 
 
As at December 31, 2015, the Bank’s total capital amount for Capital Adequacy purposes was AZN 
55,636 thousand and tier 1 capital amount was AZN 50,519 thousand with ratios of 12.00 % and 
10.90%, respectively. 
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Bank’s total capital amount for Capital Adequacy purposes was AZN 
56,237 thousand and tier 1 capital amount was AZN 50,316 thousand with ratios of 16.00 % and 
14.30%, respectively. 

 
 
28. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES 

 
Management of risk is fundamental to the banking business and is an essential element of the Bank’s 
operations. The main risks inherent to the Bank’s operations are those related to: 

• Credit exposures; 
• Liquidity risk; 
• Market risk. 
 
The Bank recognizes that it is essential to have efficient and effective risk management processes in 
place. To enable this, the Bank has established a risk management framework, whose main purpose 
is to protect the Bank from risk and allow it to achieve its performance objectives. Through the risk 
management framework, the Bank manages the following risks: 
 
Credit risk 
 
The Bank is exposed to credit risk which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail 
to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. 
 
Risk management and monitoring is performed within set limits of authority, by the Credit 
Committees and the Bank’s Management Board. Before any application is made by the Credit 
Committee, all recommendations on credit processes (borrower’s limits approved, or amendments 
made to loan agreements, etc.) are reviewed and approved by the branch risk-manager or the Risk 
Management Department. Daily risk management is performed by the Head of Credit Department 
and the Branch’s management.  
 
Credit divisions 
 
The Bank structures the level of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk 
accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to industry (and geographical) 
segments. Limits on the level of credit risk by a borrower and a product (by industry sector, by 
region) are approved quarterly by the Management Board. The exposure to any one borrower 
including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on and off-balance sheet 
exposures which are set by the Credit Committee. Actual exposures against limits are monitored 
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daily. Where appropriate, and in the case of most loans, the Bank obtains collateral and corporate and 
personal guarantees but a significant portion is personal lending, where no such facilities can be 
obtained. Such risks are monitored on a continuous basis and subject to annual or more frequent 
reviews. 
 
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of credit in the form of loans, guarantees or 
letters of credit. The credit risk on off-balance sheet financial instruments is defined as a probability 
of losses due to the inability of counterparty to comply with the contractual terms and conditions. 
With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to a loss 
in an amount equal to the total unused commitments.  
 
However, the likely amount of the loss is less than the total unused commitments since most 
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. 
The Bank applies the same credit policy to the contingent liabilities as it does to the statement of 
financial position financial instruments, i.e. the one based on the procedures for approving the grant 
of loans, using limits to mitigate the risk, and current monitoring. The Bank monitors the term to 
maturity of off-balance sheet contingencies because longer term commitments generally have a 
greater degree of credit risk than short-term commitments. 

 
Maximum Exposure of credit risk 
 
The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk varies significantly and is dependant on both individual 
risks and general market economy risks. 
 
The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk of financial assets and contingent 
liabilities. For financial assets the maximum exposure equals to a carrying value of those assets prior 
to any offset or collateral. For financial guarantees and other contingent liabilities the maximum 
exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount the Bank would have to pay if the guarantee was 
called on or in the case of commitments, if the loan amount was called on. 

 
     December 31, 2015 
 Maximum 

exposure 
Offset Net exposure 

after offset 
Collateral 
Pledged 

Net exposure after 
offset and 
collateral 
pledged 

      
Due from banks and other financial 

institutions (excluding cash and 
cash equivalents) 4,245 141 4,104 - 4,104 

Loans to customers 380,392 11,850 368,542 162,439 206,103 
Other financial assets 2,313 - 2,313 - 2,313 
Guarantees issued and similar 

commitments 51,111 - 51,111 - 51,111 
Unused loan commitments 18,651 - 18,651 - 18,651 
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     December 31, 2014 
 Maximum 

exposure 
Offset Net exposure 

after offset 
Collateral 
pledged 

Net exposure after 
offset and 
collateral 
Pledged 

      
Due from banks and other financial 

institutions (excluding cash and 
cash equivalents) 641 - 641 - 641 

Loans to customers 288,663 10,293 278,370 150,387 127,983 
Other financial assets 757 - 757 - 757 
Guarantees issued and similar 

commitments 34,048 - 34,048 - 34,048 
Unused loan commitments 8,984 - 8,984 - 8,984 
Letters of credit and other 

transaction related contingent 
obligations 56,681 - 56,681 - 56,681 

 
 
Financial assets are graded according to the current credit rating they have been issued by an 
internationally regarded agency such as Fitch Rating. The highest possible rating is AAA. Investment 
grade financial assets have ratings from AAA to BBB. Financial assets which have ratings lower 
than BBB are classed as speculative grade. 
 
As at December, 31 2015 and 2014 the cash and balances with the CBRA less minimum reserve 
deposits with the CBRA and commemorative coins amounted to AZN 37,779 thousand and AZN 
56,681 thousand, respectively. The credit rating of the Republic of Azerbaijan according to the 
international rating agencies in 2015 corresponded to investment level BB+ (2014: BBB-). 
 
The following table details credit ratings of financial assets held by the Bank as at December 31, 
2015 and 2014 (this information is prepared for all financial assets that are neither past due nor 
impaired): 
 

      December 31, 
2015 

 A+ A BBB <BBB Not  
rated 

Total  

       
Cash and balances with the 

CBRA - - - 85,012 33,027 118,039 
Due from banks and other 

financial institutions - 14,677 7,163 156 4,793 26,789 
Loans to customers - - - - 365,399 365,399 
Other financial assets - - - - 2,313 2,313 

 
 

      December 31,  
2014 

 A+ A BBB <BBB Not  
Rated 

Total  

       
Cash and balances with the 

CBRA - - - 49,295 10,955 60,250 
Due from banks and other 

financial institutions 48 28,397 6,975 333 884 36,637 
Loans to customers - - - - 284,433 284,433 
Other financial assets - - - - 757 757 
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The Bank has developed internal rating model, which allow it to determine the rating of 
counterparties. The rating of corporate borrower is based on an analysis of the financial ratios of the 
borrower, and an analysis of the market and industry sector, in which the borrower operates.  
 
The model also takes into consideration various qualitative factors, such as management efficiency 
and borrower’s market share.  
 
The application of the internal rating model results in a standardized approach in the analysis of 
corporate borrowers and provides a quantitative assessment of the creditworthiness of a borrower 
that does not have a rating from an international rating agency. The model takes into account specific 
local market conditions. 
 
The quality of the internal rating model is examined on a regular basis through an assessment of both 
its effectiveness and validity. The Bank revises the model when deficiencies are identified.  

 
The Bank applies internal rating methodologies to specific corporate loans and groups of retail and 
small business loans, which incorporate various underlying master scales that are different from that 
used by international rating agencies. As a result, it is not possible to make a cross-product score 
comparison which would agree to the outstanding balance of loans to customers per the statement of 
financial position. As such, more detailed information is not being presented. 
 
The banking industry is generally exposed to credit risk through its financial assets and contingent 
liabilities. Credit risk exposure of the Bank is concentrated within the Republic of Azerbaijan.  
The exposure is monitored on a regular basis to ensure that the credit limits and creditworthiness 
guidelines established by the Bank’s risk management policy are not breached. 
 
Geographical concentration 
 
The Asset Liability Management Committee (“ALMC”) exercises control over the risk in the 
legislation and regulatory area and assesses its influence on the Bank’s activity. This approach allows 
the Bank to minimize potential losses from the investment climate fluctuations in the Republic of 
Azerbaijan. 
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The geographical concentration of financial assets and liabilities is set out below: 
 
 The Republic 

of Azerbaijan 
 Other  

non-OECD 
countries 

 OECD 
countries 

 December 31, 
2015 
Total 

        
FINANCIAL ASSETS        
Cash and balances with the CBRA 118,039  -  -  118,039 
Due from banks and other financial 

institutions 3,952  293  22,544  26,789 
Loans to customers 380,326  66  -  380,392 
Other financial assets 696  21  1,596  2,313 
        
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 503,013  380  24,140  527,533 
        
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES        
Due to banks, government and other 

financial institutions 185,567  12,254  20,897  218,718 
Customer accounts 253,892  3,469  109  257,470 
Debt securities issued 2,054  11,472  18,726  32,252 
Other financial liabilities 1,784  187  1  1,972 
        
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 443,297  27,382  39,733  510,412 
        

NET POSITION  59,716  (27,002)  (15,593)  17,121 
 
 

 The Republic 
of Azerbaijan 

 Other  
non-OECD 
countries 

 OECD 
countries 

 December 31, 
2014 
Total 

        
FINANCIAL ASSETS        
Cash and balances with the CBRA 60,250  -  -  60,250 
Due from banks and other financial 

institutions 534  107  35,996  36,637 
Loans to customers 288,607  8  48  288,663 
Other financial assets 245  55  457  757 
        
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 349,636  170  36,501  386,307 
        
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES        
Due to banks, government and other 

financial institutions 132,015  13,208  19,580  164,803 
Customer accounts 180,065  1,007  245  181,317 
Debt securities issued 4,629  5,482  10,967  21,078 
Other financial liabilities 2,288  1  15  2,304 
        
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 318,997  19,698  30,807  369,502 
        

NET POSITION  30,639  (19,528)  5,694  16,805 
 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk refers to the availability of sufficient funds to meet deposit withdrawals and other 
financial commitments associated with financial instruments as they actually fall due. 
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The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (“ALMC”) controls these types of risks by 
means of maturity analysis, determining the Bank’s strategy for the next financial period. Current 
liquidity is managed by the Treasury Department, which deals in the money markets for current 
liquidity support and cash flow optimization. 
 
In order to manage liquidity risk, the Bank performs daily monitoring of future expected cash 
flows on clients’ and banking operations, which is a part of assets/liabilities management process. 
The Management Board sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet 
deposit withdrawals and on the minimum level on interbank and other borrowing facilities that 
should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand. 
 
An analysis of the liquidity and interest rate risks is presented in the following table. The tables have 
been drawn up to detail: 
 
(i)  The remaining contractual maturity of non-derivative financial liabilities based on the 

undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities (both interest and principal cash flows) based on 
the earliest date on which the Bank can be required to pay; and  

(ii)  The expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets based on the undiscounted contractual 
maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except 
where the Bank anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period. 

 
An analysis of the liquidity and interest rate risks is presented in the following table. The 
presentation below is based upon the information provided internally to key management personnel 
of the entity. 
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 Up to  
1 month 

 1 month  
to 

3 months 

 3 months to  
1 year 

 1 year  
to  

5 years 

 Over  
5 years 

 Maturity 
undefined  

 December 31, 
2015 
Total  

FINANCIAL ASSETS              
Due from banks and other 

financial institutions 1,405  1,606  590  141  -  -  3,742 
Loans to customers 35,126  18,114  97,074  160,337  45,845  23,896  380,392 
              

Total interest bearing 
financial assets 36,531  19,720  97,664  160,478  45,845  23,896  384,134 

              
Cash and balances with the 

CBRA 37,781  -  47,250  31,500  -  1,508  118,039 
Due from banks and other 

financial institutions 22,962  -  -  85  -  -  23,047 
Other financial assets 2,313  -  -  -  -  -  2,313 
              

Total financial assets 99,587  19,720  144,914  192,063  45,845  25,404  527,533 
              
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES              
Due to banks, government and 

other financial institutions 15,950  10,957  52,396  89,893  39,548  -  208,744 
Customer accounts 8,649  43,955  138,925  36,509  11,403  -  239,441 
Debt securities issued  2,054  10,008  20,190  -  -  -  32,252 
              

Total interest bearing 
financial liabilities 26,653  64,920  211,511  126,402  50,951  -  480,437 

              
Due to banks, government and 

other financial institutions 9,974  -  -  -  -  -  9,974 
Customer accounts 18,029  -  -  -  -  -  18,029 
Other financial liabilities 1,972  -  -  -  -  -  1,972 
              

Total financial liabilities 56,628  64,920  211,511  126,402  50,951  -  510,412 
              
Liquidity gap 42,959  (45,200)  (66,597)  65,661  (5,106)     
              
Interest sensitivity gap 9,878  (45,200)  (113,847)  34,076  (5,106)     
              
Cumulative interest 

sensitivity gap 9,878  (35,322)  (149,169)  (115,093)  (120,199)     
              
Cumulative interest 

sensitivity gap as a 
percentage of total financial 
assets  1.87%  (6.70%)  (28.28%)  (21.82%)  (22.79%)     
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 Up to  

1 month 
 1 month  

to  
3 months 

 3 months to  
1 year 

 1 year  
to  

5 years 

 Over  
5 years 

 Maturity 
undefined  

 December 31, 
2014 
Total  

FINANCIAL ASSETS              
Due from banks and other 

financial institutions -  -  500  -  -  -  500 
Loans to customers 24,503  17,409  67,011  130,901  36,409  12,430  288,663 
              

Total interest bearing 
financial assets 24,503  17,409  67,511  130,901  36,409  12,430  289,163 

              
Cash and balances with the 

CBRA 56,684  -  -  -  -  3,566  60,250 
Due from banks and other 

financial institutions 36,133  -  -  -  4  -  36,137 
Other financial assets 757  -  -  -  -  -  757 
              

Total financial assets 118,077  17,409  67,511  130,901  36,413  15,996  386,307 
              
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES              
Due to banks, government and 

other financial institutions 10,108  13,640  34,432  65,804  34,194  -  158,178 
Customer accounts 23,101  9,518  70,099  30,243  4,346  -  137,307 
Debt securities issued 4,629  5,675  10,774  -  -  -  21,078 
              

Total interest bearing 
financial liabilities 37,838  28,833  115,305  96,047  38,540  -  316,563 

              
Due to banks, government and 

other financial institutions 6,625  -  -  -  -  -  6,625 
Customer accounts 44,010  -  -  -  -  -  44,010 
Other financial liabilities 2,304  -  -  -  -  -  2,304 
              

Total financial liabilities 90,777  28,833  115,305  96,047  38,540  -  369,502 
              
Liquidity gap 27,300  (11,424)  (47,794)  34,854  (2,127)     
              
Interest sensitivity gap (13,335)  (11,424)  (47,794)  34,854  (2,131)     
              
Cumulative interest 

sensitivity gap (13,335)  (24,759)  (72,553)  (37,699)  (39,830)     
              
Cumulative interest 

sensitivity gap as a 
percentage of total financial 
assets (3.45%)  (6.41%)  (18.78%)  (9.76%)  (10.31%)     

 
The  matching  and/or controlled  mismatching  of the  maturities and interest  rates of  assets  and 
liabilities  is fundamental  to  the  management  of  the  Bank. It is unusual for banks ever to be 
completely matched since business transacted is often of an uncertain term and of different types. An 
unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses. The 
maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing 
liabilities  as  they  mature, are  important  factors  in assessing  the  liquidity  of  the  Bank and  its 
exposure to changes in interest and exchange rates. 

 
Management believes that in spite of a substantial portion of customer accounts matures within 1 
year, diversification of these deposits by number and type of depositors and the past experience of 
the Bank would indicate that these customer accounts provide a long-term and stable source of 
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funding for the Bank. Additionally, the management of the Bank is currently in the process of 
negotiating new maturities of the short-term customer accounts with the clients by offering 
favourable terms and conditions. Customer accounts are classified in the above analysis based on 
contractual maturities. However, in accordance with the Civil Code of the Republic of Azerbaijan 
individuals have a right to withdraw their deposits prior to maturity if they forfeit their right to a 
certain portion of accrued interest. 
 
The short-term liquidity gap of the Bank at December 31, 2015 has been negatively impacted by the 
increase in up to 1 year category of customer accounts amounting to AZN 209,558 thousand. This 
increase has been driven by customer demand to place funds in either foreign exchange denominated 
deposit or demand accounts as a result of the devaluations of the Azerbaijani Manat in February and 
December 2015. These balances have remained stable during 2015. 
 
The majority of the Bank’s interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities are at fixed rates of 
interest. Weighted average effective interest rate of due from banks and other financial institutions 
and loans to customers we equal to 12.26% and 18.98%, respectively (2014: 12.00% and 17.52%). 
 
Asset and liability maturity periods and the ability to replace interest liabilities at an acceptable cost 
when they mature are crucial in determining the Bank’s liquidity and its susceptibility to fluctuations 
in interest rates and exchange rates.  

 
A further analysis of the liquidity and interest rate risks is presented in the following tables in 
accordance with IFRS 7. The amounts disclosed in these tables do not correspond to the amounts 
recorded on the statement of financial position as the presentation below includes a maturity analysis 
for financial liabilities that indicates the total remaining contractual payments (including interest 
payments), which are not recognized in the statement of financial position under the effective 
interest rate method. 
 
The maturity analysis of financial liabilities at December 31, 2015 is as follows: 
 

 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 

 Up to 
1 month 

 1 month to 
3 months 

 3 months to 
1 year 

 1 year to 
5 years 

 Over  
5 years 

 December 31, 
2015 
Total 

              
FINANCIAL 

LIABILITIES              

Due to banks, government 
and other financial 

 
3.82% 

 
16,492  13,568  61,644  101,321  50,123  243,148 

Customer accounts 10.77%  9,698  46,829  148,279  49,723  18,381  272,910 
Debt securities issued 10.59%  2,056  10,111  21,267  -  -  33,434 

              
Total interest bearing 

financial liabilities   
28,246  70,508  231,190  151,044  68,504  549,492 

              
Due to banks, government 

and other financial 
 

  
9,974  -  -  -  -  9,974 

Customer accounts   18,029  -  -  -  -  18,029 
Other financial liabilities   1,972  -  -  -  -  1,972 
              
TOTAL FINANCIAL 

LIABILITIES   
58,221  70,508  231,190  151,044  68,504  579,467 
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The maturity analysis of financial liabilities at December 31, 2014 is as follows: 
 

 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 

 Up to 
1 month 

 1 month to 
3 months 

 3 months to 
1 year 

 1 year to 
5 years 

 Over  
5 years 

 December 31, 
2014 
Total 

              
FINANCIAL 

LIABILITIES              

Due to banks, government 
and other financial 

 
4.43% 

 
10,428  15,995  40,777  68,996  42,894  179,090 

Customer accounts 10.99%  23,524  10,373  75,840  36,101  4,866  150,704 
Debt securities issued 9.01%  4,631  5,786  14,746  -  -  25,163 

              
Total interest bearing 

financial liabilities   
38,583  32,154  131,363  105,097  47,760  354,957 

              
Due to banks, government 

and other financial 
 

  
6,625  -  -  -  -  6,625 

Customer accounts   44,010  -  -  -  -  44,010 
Other financial liabilities   2,304  -  -  -  -  2,304 
              
TOTAL FINANCIAL 

LIABILITIES   
91,522  32,154  131,363  105,097  47,760  407,896 

  
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk covers interest rate risk, currency risk and other pricing risks to which the Bank is 
exposed. There have been no changes as to the way the Bank measures risk or to the risk it is 
exposed in 2015 and 2014. 
 
The ALMC also manages interest rate and market risks by matching the Bank’s interest rate position, 
which provides the Bank with a positive interest margin. The Department of Financial Control 
conducts monitoring of the Bank’s current financial performance, estimates the Bank’s sensitivity to 
changes in interest rates and its influence on the Bank’s profitability. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The Bank manages fair value interest rate risk through periodic estimation of potential losses that 
could arise from adverse changes in market conditions. The Department of Financial Control 
conducts monitoring of the Bank’s current financial performance, estimates the Bank’s sensitivity to 
changes in fair value interest rates and its influence on the Bank’s profitability. 
 
The following table presents a sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk, which has been determined 
based on “reasonably possible changes in the risk variable”. The level of these changes is determined 
by management and is contained within the risk reports provided to key management personnel.  
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Impact on profit before tax: 
 

 As at December 31, 2015 As at December 31, 2014 
 Interest rate 

+1% 
 Interest rate 

-1% 
 Interest rate 

+1% 
 Interest rate 

-1% 

FINANCIAL ASSETS        
Due from banks and other financial 

institutions 37 
 

(37) 
 

5 
 

(5) 
Loans to customers 3,804  (3,804)  2,887  (2,887) 
        
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES        
Due to banks, government and other 

financial institutions (2,087) 
 

2,087 
 

(1,582) 
 

1,582 
Customer accounts (2,394)  2,394  (1,373)  1,373 
Debt securities issued (323)  323  (211)  211 
        

Net impact on profit before tax (963)  963  (274)  274 
 
 
Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is defined as the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign 
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. 
 
The ALMC controls currency risk by management of the open currency position on the estimated basis 
of AZN devaluation and other macroeconomic indicators, which gives the Bank an opportunity to 
minimize losses from significant currency rates fluctuations toward its national currency. The Treasury 
Department performs daily monitoring of the Bank’s open currency position with the aim to match 
the requirements of the CBRA. 
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The Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk is presented in the table below: 
 

 AZN  USD   EUR   Other 
currency 

 December 31, 
2015 
Total  

          
FINANCIAL ASSETS          
Cash and balances with the CBRA 5,133  111,995  622  289  118,039 
Due from banks and other financial 

institutions -  24,400  2,371  18  26,789 
Loans to customers 215,646  163,697  1,049  -  380,392 
Other financial assets  178  2,091  44  -  2,313 
          
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 220,957  302,183  4,086  307  527,533 
          
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES          
Due to banks, government and other 

financial institutions 173,244  43,754  1,720  -  218,718 
Customer accounts 27,739  225,925  3,786  20  257,470 
Debt securities issued 2,054  30,198  -  -  32,252 
Other financial liabilities 526  1,440  4  2  1,972 
          
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 203,563  301,317  5,510  22  510,412 
          
OPEN CURRENCY POSITION 17,394  866  (1,424)  285  17,121 

 
 

 AZN  USD   EUR   Other 
currency 

 December 31, 
2014 
Total  

          
FINANCIAL ASSETS          
Cash and balances with the CBRA 50,632  9,203  336  79  60,250 
Due from banks and other financial 

institutions 
500 

 
35,819 

 
264 

 
54 

 
36,637 

Loans to customers 241,640  46,327  696  -  288,663 
Other financial assets  145  585  24  3  757 
          
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 292,917  91,934  1,320  136  386,307 
          
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES          
Due to banks, government and other 

financial institutions 129,217  35,574  12  -  164,803 
Customer accounts 140,464  38,521  2,326  6  181,317 
Debt securities issued 4,629  16,449  -  -  21,078 
Other financial liabilities 1,729  569  5  1  2,304 
          
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 276,039  91,113  2,343  7  369,502 
          
OPEN CURRENCY POSITION 16,878  821  (1,023)  129  16,805 
 
 
Currency risk sensitivity 
 
The following table details the Bank’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the USD and 
EUR against AZN. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to 
key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in 
foreign currency exchange rates.  
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The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and 
adjusts their translation at the end of the period for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The 
sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Bank 
where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the 
borrower.  
 

 As at December 31, 2015 As at December 31, 2014 
 AZN/USD 

+10% 
AZN/USD 

-10% 
AZN/USD 

+10% 
AZN/USD 

-10% 
Impact on profit before  tax 87 (87) 82 (82) 
 
 

 As at December 31, 2015 As at December 31, 2014 
 AZN/EUR 

+10% 
AZN/EUR 

-10% 
AZN/EUR 

+10% 
AZN/EUR 

-10% 
Impact on profit before  tax (142) 142 (102) 102 
 
 
Price risks 
 
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or its 
issuer or factors affecting all securities traded in the market. The Bank is exposed to other price risks 
of its products which are subject to general and specific market fluctuations. 
 
Limitations of sensitivity analysis 
 
The above tables demonstrate the effect of a change in a key assumption while other assumptions 
remain unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other factors.  
It should also be noted that these sensitivities are non-linear, and larger or smaller impacts should not 
be interpolated or extrapolated from these results. 
 
The sensitivity analysis does not take into consideration that the Bank’s assets and liabilities are 
actively managed. Additionally, the financial position of the Bank may vary at the time that any 
actual market movement occurs. For example, the Bank’s financial risk management strategy aims to 
manage the exposure to market fluctuations. As investment markets move past various trigger levels, 
management actions could include selling investments, changing investment portfolio allocation and 
taking other protective action. Consequently, the actual impact of a change in the assumptions may 
not have any impact on the liabilities, whereas assets are held at market value on the statement of 
financial position. In these circumstances, the different measurement bases for liabilities and assets 
may lead to volatility in shareholder equity.  
 
Other limitations in the above sensitivity analyses include the use of hypothetical market movements 
to demonstrate potential risk that only represent the Bank’s view of possible near-term market 
changes that cannot be predicted with any certainty; and the assumption that all interest rates move in 
an identical fashion.  
 

29. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 
On February 3, 2016 the President of the Republic of Azerbaijan signed a decree on the 
establishment of a public legal entity of the Financial Markets Supervisory Authority in the Republic 
of Azerbaijan and Rufat Jabrayil Aslanli is appointed as the chairman of the Board of Directors of 
this Authority. Hence, “Banks”, “Non-Banking Credit Organizations”, “Insurance Companies”, 
“Securities markets” will comply with the Financial Markets Supervisory Authority. 
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On February 15, 2016 the Management Board of the CBRA decided to increase the refinancing rate 
from 3% to 5% and set the basic interest rate corridor on liquid operations at 2%, while the ceiling at 
10% onward to boost confidence in the national currency, promote growth of AZN denominated 
deposits and increase an efficiency of available monetary policy tools under the current market 
structure.  
 
Subsequently, on March 4, 2016 the Management Board of the CBRA decided to increase the 
refinancing rate from 5% to 7% and increase the basic interest rate corridor ceiling from 10% to 17% 
while the corridor floor for liquidity operations remained unchanged at 2%. 
 
On March 17, 2016 the Management Board of the CBRA decided to increase the reserve 
requirements for foreign currency denominated liabilities of banks from 0.5% to 1%, while the 
reserve requirements for liabilities to the non-resident financial sector and for settlements with 
international financial institutions were decreased from 0.5% to 0.00%. However the reserve 
requirements for national currency remained unchanged. The banks must take these new rules into 
account starting from May 01, 2016. 
 
On February 11, 2016, the Bank authorized and issued 25,000 new ordinary shares with par value of 
AZN 200 each. Total volume of issue was AZN 5,000 thousand. All shares are ranked equally and 
carry one vote. 
 
From March 15, 2016 circulation of the “Bearer Bonds” issued by the Bank is terminated. On March 
16, 2016, the Bank introduced a new product called “Mugan Cheque”. The Bank will be putting into 
circulation 200,000 cheques of “Mugan Cheque” wih a total size of AZN 10,000 thousand.   
 
On March 1, 2016, the government has announced that all the customer deposits below 12% 
denominated in AZN and below 3% denominated in foreign currencies will be guaranteed by the 
state during next 3 years. 
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